ANTITRUST OUTLINE
Fall 2020—Professor Kesselman

Sherman Act Section 1 prohibits: “every contract, combination in the form of a trust or otherwise, or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce among the Several States or with foreign nations, is hereby declared illegal.”

· To violate §1 of the Sherman Act—need 2 or more actors 

· When there is a §1 violation, need to ask yourself what analysis is needed—per se or rule of reason? 

· Looking for: 

· (1) an agreement

· (2) that restraints trade 

Sherman Act Section 2 states: “every person who shall monopolize or attempt to monopolize, or combine or conspire with any other person or persons, to monopolize any part of the trade or commerce among the several States or with foreign nations, shall be deemed guilty of a felony.” 

· To violate §2 of the Sherman Act—unilateral conduct (monopoly) 

Can have situations where you allege violations of §1 and §2 by a Defendant.

Historical Approaches to Antitrust Enforcement: 

· Economic Bill of Rights 

· Framework that antitrust laws were designed to diffuse economic power 

· Idealistic notion of antirust 

· There to protect small business 

· Industrial Organization Theory—Harvard School 

· Structure for analyzing markets

· Look at performance in industry 

· Focus on intersection of supply/demand and market

· Want to allow competition to lead to lower prices and innovation 

· Chicago School 

· Antitrust -> too much enforcement happening that was hurting competition and stifling efficiency 

· Should be looking at efficiency and price (efficiency would lead to lower prices) 

· This school of thought has a huge influence, but do not fully take over field 

· Post-Chicago School (1990s) 

· Still infusing economics but also recognize that Chicago School may not be realistic 

· Behavior economics—need to take into account that people do not always act rationally 

· Today 

· Debate: whether we should rethink antitrust enforcement 

· Do we need to add something to §1, §2? 

· Or do we need enforcement agencies to do more with what they already have? 
Foundational Cases—Early Cartel Cases, Scope of the Sherman Act: 

United States v. Trans-Missouri Freight Association (1897)
Facts: A group of 18 railroad companies operating west of the Mississippi River established the Trans-Missouri Freight Association (TMFA) (defendant) to set freight schedules and rates for members. These railroad companies adhered to the prices and schedules set by the TMFA, which meant that prices for rail services were fixed between the 18 members. The United States (plaintiff) brought a complaint against the TMFA, alleging that the association was a restraint of trade in violation of the Sherman Act. The railroad companies argued that the rates fixed by the TMFA were reasonable and that the arrangement was not unlawful under the Sherman Act, because the arrangement would not have been unlawful under common law. The district court found in favor of the railroad companies, and the court of appeals affirmed. The United States Supreme Court granted certiorari on the issue of whether a trade restraint must be unreasonable in order to violate the Sherman Act.
Issue: May the Sherman Act prohibit a reasonable restraint of trade?  (“Is it [Sherman Act] confined to a contract or combination which is only in unreasonable restraint of trade or commerce, or does it include what the language of the act plainly and in terms covers, all contracts of that nature?”) 

Defendants argued that prices were reasonable… 

Holding: Sherman Act applies to all restraints of trade—even reasonable restraints of trade. 
Dissent: if the language in the Sherman Act is taken literally, there will be injustice. (Antitrust law could be stopping contracts that may be beneficial) 

Standard Oil Co. of New Jersey v. United States (1911)
Facts: Defendant oil companies sought review of an order from the Circuit Court of the United States for the Eastern District of Missouri, which held that the combining of defendants' stock constituted a restraint of trade and an attempt to monopolize the oil industry. Plaintiff United States filed an action alleging that defendants, an oil corporation and 37 other corporations, were engaged in conspiring to restrain the trade and commerce in petroleum and to monopolize the petroleum industry. The trial court awarded judgment to plaintiff, finding that the combining of defendants' stock constituted a restraint of trade and an attempt to monopolize. In 1909, a federal court found Rockefeller's company, Standard Oil, in violation of the Sherman Antitrust Act. The court ordered the dissolution of the company.
Issue: How to interpret the language in §1? 

Holding: the rule of reason applies to the Sherman Act--only unreasonable restraints of trade implicate §1 of the Sherman Act. 
RED FLAG RULE #1: 
Only unreasonable restraints of trade are unlawful 

(Standard Oil of New Jersey v. United States) 

Per Se v. Rule of Reason 

Per Se: 

-“Agreements of a type that always or almost always tends to raise price or to reduce output are per se illegal”

-Examples of per se agreements: price fixing, bid rigging, dividing markets 

-DOJ prosecutes per se agreements criminally 

-Why are these type of agreements so “bad”?

-know that certain conduct is anticompetitive on its face and do not need to go through thorough industry analysis


Rule of Reason: 

-“Agreements not challenged as per se illegal are analyzed under the rule of reason to determine their overall anticompetitive effect.” 

-Except for a limited number of specific categories, the default rule today is rule of reason analysis. 

-Entails a balancing of anticompetitive effects with procompetitive benefits arising from the agreement 


-How? Hire economists to analyze the market

-Policy debate because often very expensive to analyze under rule of reason

-Only civil liability for rule of reason violations 

Sherman Act §1: Horizontal Agreements
Horizontal Price Fixing: 
US v. Trenton Potteries (1927) 
Facts: (price fixing of toilets). Trenton Potteries Company and 22 other corporations in the business of making pottery for use in bathrooms (the pottery companies) (defendants) coordinated to fix the prices of their products. Together, the pottery companies controlled 82 percent of the business for bathroom-pottery fixtures in the United States. The federal government (plaintiff) brought a complaint against the pottery companies, alleging that the companies had conspired to fix prices in violation of the Sherman Act. In district court, an instruction was submitted to the jury, stating that the jurors should find the pottery companies guilty if the companies had engaged in a price-fixing agreement, regardless of the reasonableness of the prices or the actual effect of the agreement on the prices. The jury returned a guilty verdict. The court of appeals overturned the verdict, holding that the jury instruction had misstated the law. The government appealed the decision.
Issue: Is a price-fixing agreement a violation of antitrust law regardless of the reasonableness of the prices? (Defendants want to argue that price was reasonable and therefore should not constitute a criminal violation of §1). 

Holding: Any agreement for price fixing is illegal as a matter of law. 
-“The aim and result of every price-fixing agreement, if effective, is the elimination of one form of competition.” 

-“Whether the prices actually agreed upon were reasonable or unreasonable was immaterial in the circumstances charged in the indictment…” 
US v. Socony-Vacuum Oil (MOST IMPORTANT PER SE CASE) 
Facts: In 1935, Socony-Vacuum Oil Company, Inc., and several other midwestern oil companies (defendants) met and verbally agreed to divide up the spot market for gasoline so that each oil company would be matched with an independent refinery. (there was surplus gas outside of their long-term agreements and by buying all of the surplus, Defendants are able to create a floor and better control of the market.) Whenever spot-market gasoline became available, the designated oil company would purchase the gasoline at market price. (“informal gentleman’s agreement” -> where each company would pick a smaller refinery and buy excess). The effect of the arrangement was to remove the unpredictability of spot gasoline as a market factor on the price of gasoline at retail. The price of gasoline became stabilized at a certain price point, and the oil companies began to charge more at the retail level. 
The United States (plaintiff) brought a complaint, alleging that the oil companies had engaged in horizontal price fixing under §1 of the Sherman Act (don’t have to have a written agreement but have enough to infer an agreement). Defendants try to argue: 
· If we competed with each other, would destroy industry 

· Rejected by court

· “The elimination of so-called competitive evils is not legal justification for…[price fixing].”

· There were other market conditions causing prices to rise (not sole cause) 

· Rejected by court—court did not care if other factors (not a justification) 

· “[Once there is evidence of agreement]… [t]hat other factors may have contributed to [a price] rise and stability of the market is immaterial.”

· There was still competition even with this 

· Doesn’t matter; once you enter into an agreement to fix prices, you are on the hook

· “The fact that sales on the spot markets were still governed by some competition is of no consequence.” 

· “Congress has not left us with the determination of whether or not particular price fixing schemes are wise or unwise, healthy or destructive.” 

· Prices were reasonable

· Doesn’t matter 

· “Whatever economic justification particular price-fixing agreements may be thought to have, the law does not permit an inquiry into their reasonableness. They are all banned because of their actual or potential threat to the central nervous system of the economy.” 
Trial Court-> per se violation 

Appellate Court-> need to use rule of reason

Supreme Court->per se

Issue: Are horizontal price-fixing agreements per se violations of the Sherman Act?
Holding: Yes—horizontal price-fixing agreements are per se unlawful. 
- “Any combination which tampers with price structures is engaged in an unlawful activity.” 

- “…the Sherman Act, so far as price-fixing agreements are concerned, establishes one uniform rule applicable to all industries alike.” 

- “Under the Sherman Act, a combination formed for the purposes and with the effect of raising, depressing, fixing, pegging or stabilizing the price of a commodity in interstate of foreign commerce is illegal per se.” 
RED FLAG RULE #2: 

Horizontal price fixing is per se unlawful.
(US v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co.)

{Percentage of market share does not matter—if you enter into a horizontal agreement to fix prices, it is a per se violation (regardless of how big or small you are). The mere act of entering into the agreement is a per se violation—doesn’t matter if successful or not; can be charged just by entering into a conspiracy to fix prices}
Catalano v. Target Sales (1980): Note Case
Facts:  (beer wholesaler offering short term credit to retailers). In 1967, a group of competing beer wholesalers simultaneously stopped supplying interest-free credit that had formerly been granted to beer retailers. Previously, beer retailers had been able to place orders for beer on interest-free credit for up to 42 days before making payment. Prior to extinguishing the practice, the terms of such credit extensions had been a form of competition among beer wholesalers, and the credit terms between individual beer wholesalers and beer retailers tended to differ considerably. Believing that the beer wholesalers’ mutual decision to stop extending credit constituted an anticompetitive agreement in violation of antitrust law, a group of beer retailers brought a lawsuit against the beer wholesalers. 
Allegation: horizontal competitors came together and agreed not to offer short term credit to retailers. 

Holding: Court says per se violation because the agreement had an indirect impact on price. 

The price fixing does not need to be direct, and an agreement between competitors that has the effect of fixing prices also constitutes a per se antitrust violation. In this case, the interest-free credit formerly extended to retailers amounted to a discount equal to the value of the purchase price of the beer for the term of the credit extension. As a result, the credit was an inseparable component of the price of beer, and when the competing wholesalers mutually agreed to stop providing the credit, the effect was to fix prices paid by retailers at a higher level.
· Agreements that eliminate a form of price competition, including credit, is per se unlawful 

· The fact that it may have little impact is not relevant 

Arizona v. Maricopa Country Medical (1982): Note Case 
Facts: physicians agreed to set a maximum fee for health services provided to policyholders of specific insurance plans. Physicians tried to argue procompetitive and better for consumers 

· Did not matter 

· Court does not care what price point is—don’t want horizontal agreements to fix prices 

Holding: Court says per se violation 

· “…an otherwise illegal agreement could not be saved by a showing that it was designed to protect the public from other harms and enhance the quality of professional services…”.

· Doctors could not offer procompetitive justifications for horizontal price fixing.

Characterizing Horizontal Price Fixing and Group Boycotts:

FTC v. Superior Court Trial Lawyers (1990) 
Facts: In the District of Columbia, the difficult task of finding competent legal counsel for insolvent defendants led to the passage of the District of Columbia Criminal Justice Act (CJA). The CJA authorized the District to appoint and compensate lawyers to represent insolvent defendants in criminal cases. Although over 1,200 lawyers registered as CJA lawyers, only around 100 CJA lawyers regularly accepted cases. After failing to secure a pay raise, the CJA lawyers voted at a meeting of the Superior Court Trial Lawyers Association (SCTLA) to form a strike committee, which determined that a boycott against taking new clients was the only way to obtain the raise. The regular CJA lawyers met and agreed not to take any new cases after a specified date unless the pay-raise demands were met. The CJA lawyers also began reaching out to the media to help publicize the issue. After the boycott commenced, the District issued a pay raise to avoid a crisis. The Federal Trade Commission (FTC) brought a complaint against SCTLA, alleging that the boycott was a per se antitrust violation of § 5 of the FTC Act (for price fixing, analyzed like §1 of Sherman Act). The court of appeals vacated the FTC order, holding that the boycott contained an expressive component, involving a political message, that made application of the per se rule inappropriate under the First Amendment. The court of appeals concluded the expressive boycott was unlawful only if the boycotting group possessed significant market power. The FTC appealed, arguing that no market-power analysis was necessary and that a group boycott aimed at manipulating prices was per se unlawful.

Issue: Is a group boycott aimed at manipulating prices a per se antitrust violation under the Sherman Act, even if the boycott includes a political message?
Holding: Per se violation. 
· Why have a per se rule? 

· Not just for administrative reasons 
· “…while the per se rule against price fixing and boycotts is indeed justified in part by ‘administrative convenience’… [t]he per se rules also reflect a longstanding judgments that the prohibited practices by their nature have a ‘substantial potential for impact on competition.’”  

· Know from experience (and confirmed by modern economics) certain behavior almost always has anticompetitive effect 

· Prices go up or there is a reduction in output 

· “The horizontal agreement among these competitors was unquestionably a “naked restraint’ on price and output.”

· “The social justifications proffered… do not make it any less lawful.”

· “The statutory policy underlying the Sherman Act ‘precludes inquiry into the question whether competition is good or bad.’”  
· “The per se rules are, of course, the product of judicial interpretations of the Sherman Act, but the rules nevertheless have the same force and effect as any other statutory commands.”

· Noerr-Pennington defense rejected 

· NAACP v. Claiborne Hardware defense rejected

· NAACP boycotted businesses of the South for civil rights; businesses tried to say boycotts violated antitrust laws; Supreme Court says can’t use antitrust laws to violate Constitutional Rights 
· Court says this case is different—here, lawyers boycotted to get themselves more $

· General First Amendment defense rejected

Rule of Reason: 

Default Analysis

· Balance anticompetitive effects with procompetitive justifications 

· Although its thorough, rule of reason is very expensive and time consuming 

Questions for applying Rule of Reason: 

(1) What is the conduct/restraint? 

(2) What are the anticompetitive effects? 

a. Does the restraint raise prices? 

b. Does the restraint reduce output? 

c. Does the restraint reduce services? 

d. Does the restraint reduce quality? 

e. Does the restraint reduce or eliminate innovation? 

(3) What are the procompetitive benefits? 

(4) Is the restraint reasonably necessary to achieve the procompetitive benefits? (is there a lesser restrictive alternative?)
(5) How do you balance positive and negative effects? 

Origin of the Rule of Reason Analysis: 

Board of Trade of City of Chicago v. US (1918) (seminal rule of reason case) 
Facts: The Chicago Board of Trade maintained and operated a grain exchange in the Chicago market. The board established a set of rules to govern transactions at the grain exchange, with different rules for each of the various types of grain sales. One sale type was for to-arrive grain, or grain that was scheduled to arrive at the exchange but was not yet available. In 1906, the board enacted a rule that prohibited participants in the grain exchange from buying or selling to-arrive grain at a price other than the price listed at the time the exchange closed for the day until the exchange reopened the next business day. The effect was to prevent after-market pricing on grain that was en route and ready to ship upon arrival but that had not yet reached Chicago. The Department of Justice believed that the rule violated § 1 of the Sherman Act and brought a suit in district court, seeking an injunction to prevent the board’s rule from being enforced. The district court granted the injunction, holding that the rule was a restraint of trade under antitrust law. The board appealed the decision.
The Chicago Board’s rule: 

(1) Allows access to information (helped break up a monopoly) 

a. Don’t have a proper market when trading is closed and information is not flowing 

Not your usual horizontal price-fixing scenario: 

· Creating transparency in the market 

· Benefits competition 

Issue: Is the fact that an agreement or regulation restrains trade solely determinative of whether the agreement or regulation violates antitrust law?
Holding: No. Nearly all agreements and regulations related to trade will result in some restraint, and the primary question for antitrust policy is whether the restraint will serve to promote or destroy competition. As a result, consideration must be given to the nature and scope of the restraint and the likely effect of the restraint as implemented.
How to determine whether this restraint violates antitrust law? 

· Look at anticompetitive effects balanced against procompetitive effects 

· Court says factors to consider are: 

· Facts peculiar to the business 

· Conditions in the market before and after restraint 

· Nature of the restraint and its effect 

· History of the restraint, reason for adopting the particular remedy, purpose/end sought to be attained, the evil believed to exist 

Because the rule increased transparency and flow of information, it promoted competition. 

Ancillary Restraint Doctrine: 

Idea that we will allow certain restraints that would normally be anticompetitive if it is ancillary to a legitimate procompetitive business agreement 
Characterizing More Complicated Horizontal Agreements:
BMI v. CBS (1979) (modern rule of reason) 
Facts: Broadcast Music, Inc. (BMI) was established as an intermediary in the market for individual musical compositions. Previously, thousands of owners of the copyrights in musical compositions had difficulty negotiating licensing with individual users and also struggled to detect and police the unlicensed use of the copyrights by infringers. BMI and the American Society of Composers, Authors and Publishers (ASCAP) helped to ameliorate these issues by allowing copyright owners to license their compositions collectively in a blanket license. The blanket license allowed licensees to perform any of the works included in the license. Between BMI and ASCAP, nearly every copyright-protected composition in the United States could be utilized through the blanket licenses. Columbia Broadcasting System, Inc. (CBS) purchased blanket licenses for its television and radio programming. 
CBS alleges that the blanket license are horizontal price fixing—forced to buy access through the blanket license. However, the blanket license was nonexclusive (had the right to negotiate individually; problem of individual negotiation is that it is timely and costly). CBS wants to be able to buy the songs they want from ASCAP and BMI, not the blanket license. 

The district court held that the blanket licenses were not per se violations, but the court of appeals reversed, finding that the blanket licenses constituted price fixing. BMI appealed the decision. Supreme Court says not per se (even though price fixing in the literal sense) 

Issue: Is a blanket license for an entire market of goods a per se antitrust violation if the license does not inevitably produce anticompetitive effects?
Holding: No. Even though price fixing in the literal sense, use rule of reason because a new and different product was created. 

· Blanket license greater than the sum of its parts? 

· Blanket license adds to the efficiency of the market (by providing an intermediary for users while relieving copyright owners of the need to constantly police and attempt to sell copyrights)
· A one-stop shopping place 

· Case decided during Chicago School (efficiency is really important) 

· Need to do a market analysis—whether there is anticompetitive effect, procompetitive benefit, and a balancing of the two. 

On remand, court of appeals says procompetitive outweighs anticompetitive—CBS loses. 

Quick Look Supreme Court cases that deal with professions (3/4): 

1) National Society of Professional Engineers v. US 

2) FTC v Indiana Federation of Dentists 

3) California Dental Association v. FTC

(Last Supreme Court quick look case is NCAA v. Bd. Of Regents)

National Society of Professional Engineers v. US (1978) 
Facts: In 1935, the National Society of Professional Engineers was established to help promote the non-technical aspects of the engineering profession. The goals of the Society included promoting the economic and professional interests of its members. In a code of ethics distributed by the Society to its members, the Society prohibited consulting engineers from sharing price information with potential customers prior to being selected for a specific position, effectively prohibiting competitive bidding in the market for engineering services. The Society contended that competition on price among engineers was detrimental to the public, because such competition would incentivize engineers to submit deceptively low bids and cut corners and would lead to a practice of awarding engineering contracts to the lowest bidder without regard to quality. 
US brought suit—saying unreasonable restraint of trade that hurts consumers. Thinks it should be a per se violation (engineers want rule of reason) 

The district court agreed with the government and issued an injunction preventing the Society from endorsing any agreement to refuse to share prices until after an engineer had been selected for a specific position. The Society appealed, and the court of appeals affirmed the decision. The Society appealed again.
Holding: Supreme Court says per se

· assumption that we have to make is that competition is good for consumers and good for the public 

· engineers argument = “frontal assault on free market competition” 

· not a legitimate defense of procompetitive justification 

· the engineer’s rule is illegal on its face (per se) 

· but court still engaged in “quick look” rule of reason analysis
· many analysts say this is first quick look case

· not totally clear when we apply per se, quick look, and rule of reason 
NCAA v. Board of Regents (1984): Applying “Quick Look” Rule of Reason 
Facts: NCAA began operations in 1905 as a governing organization for collegiate athletics. The purpose of the NCAA was to provide rules, standards, governance, and compliance to member schools in order to facilitate competition in a number of different sports. In 1981, the NCAA adopted a new television-broadcast plan that limited the ability of individual members to sell broadcast rights to college football games. The plan provided that two specified networks (ABC and CBS) would have the right to negotiate directly with NCAA member schools to broadcast a limited number of live games. The plan also limited the number of times that any specific member school could appear and prohibited the sale of broadcast rights outside the limitations of the plan. Colleges formed CFA and made a deal with NBC. The NCAA threatened disciplinary action against anyone who honored that deal

The Universities of Oklahoma and Georgia brought suit, alleging that the NCAA’s broadcast plan= horizontal price fixing 

· who: university teams= horizonal competitors 

· this issue has not been very clear (2010 American Needle case addressed this) 

· here, court says that teams are competitors that can conspire 

The district court found for the plaintiffs and issued an injunction against the plan. The court of appeals affirmed the decision, and the NCAA appealed.
Supreme Court: 

· not per se because some measure of cooperation is required to allow the product to exist at all 

· GENERAL RULE: For sports leagues—use rule of reason 

· “Horizontal price fixing and output limitation are ordinarily condemned as a matter of law under an ‘illegal per se’ approach...” 

· “Nevertheless, we have decided that it would be inappropriate to apply a per se rule to this case... what is critical is that this case involves an industry in which horizontal restraints on competition are essential if the product is to be available at all.” 

· Justice Stevens said that if it wasn’t a sports league, would have no issue striking it down as anticompetitive 

· Why? 

· Limitation on output, NCAA created a price structure that is “unresponsive to viewer demand and unrelated to the prices that would prevail in a competitive market” 

· “The anticompetitive effects of this arrangement are apparent. Individual competitors lose their freedom to compete. Price is higher and output is lower than they would otherwise be, and both are unresponsive to consumer preference.” 

· Key to this case: continuation of Engineers—fleshing out the concept that you do not have to do a full blown market analysis if behavior is anticompetitive on its face. Can do a “quick look” rule of reason. 

· “This naked restraint on price and output requires some competitive justification even in the absence of a detailed market analysis.”  
· “As a matter of law, the absence of proof of market power does not justify a naked restriction on price or output. To the contrary, when there is an agreement not to compete in terms of price or output, ‘no elaborate industry analysis is required to demonstrate the anticompetitive character of such an agreement.’”  (quoting Professional Engineers).
· NCAA Arguments for procompetitive justifications 

· Says it’s a competitive joint venture like BMI 

· Court says BMI increased output, this rule decreased output 

· Wanted to protect live attendance 

· Court says can’t create an anticompetitive rule that restricts price/output to try and protect another market 

Holding: the broadcast agreement is a violation of the Sherman Act.
California Dental Ass’n v. FTC (1999): Majority blurs distinctions between per se, quick look, and rule of reason
Facts: California Dental Association (CDA) was a nonprofit association of local dentist societies to which about three-fourths of California's dentists belonged. CDA members agreed to abide by a code of ethics prohibiting, among other things, the engagement of false or misleading advertising. Dentists had to run all advertisements by the association before they were allowed to use them. The CDA issued advisory opinions and guidelines to assist dentist-members in ensuring that they were not engaging in false advertising. The Federal Trade Commission (FTC) brought a complaint against the CDA alleging that the application of the CDA's guidelines had restricted truthful, non-deceptive advertising related to prices, discounted fees, and the quality of dental services in violation of § 5 of the FTC Act. 
Issue: whether “quick look” rule of reason applies. 

FTC says per se (output restriction) 

Administrative Law Judge says quick look 

Commission (FTC) agrees with ALJ findings but thinks it’s per se. Alternatively, still a violation with quick look 

9th Circuit says quick look 

Holding: Quick look is inappropriate. Use rule of reason 

-  Test for Quick Look: “Abbreviated” or “quick look” analysis applies when: “an observer with even a rudimentary understanding of economics could conclude that the arrangements in question would have an anticompetitive effect on customers and markets.” 


- anticompetitive effects are obvious on its face 

- KEY TO THIS CASE: Majority Blurs the Distinction between per se, quick look, and rule of reason. 

-  sliding scale
- lower courts are left trying to figure out what Court means 
- “The truth is that our categories of analysis of anticompetitive effect are less fixed than terms like ‘ per se ’ ‘quick look’ and ‘rule of reason’ tend to make them appear. We have recognized, for example, that ‘there is often no bright line separating per se from Rule of Reason analysis,’ since ‘considerable inquiry into market conditions’ may be required before the application of any so called ‘per se’ condemnation is justified.” 

- Enquiry Meet for the Case: “As the circumstances here demonstrate, there is generally no categorical line to be drawn between restraints that give rise to an intuitively obvious inference of anticompetitive effect and those that call for more detailed treatment. What is required, rather is an enquiry meet for the case, looking to the circumstances , details, and logic of a restraint.” 

Dissent: 

· Anticompetitive on its face—quick look should apply 

· Agrees with appellate court 

· Does not agree with majority separating out advertising from service 
· Concern

· Criticism of per se (overinclusive in enforcement) 

· If you are apply rule of reason—can’t really give certainty 

· Depends on facts/circumstances 

· Depends on market 

· Businesses want certainty 

· “I hope that this case does not represent an abandonment of that basic, and important form of analysis.” 
Polygram Holding v. FTC (2005): Applying “Quick Look” Rule of Reason
Facts: The Three Tenors put on extremely popular concerts in 1990, 1994, and 1998. PolyGram Holding, Inc. distributed the recording of the 1990 concert, and Warner Communications, Inc. distributed the recording of the 1994 concert. PolyGram and Warner signed an agreement to distribute the recording of the 1998 concert jointly. The companies also agreed to a moratorium on any advertising or discounting of recordings of the 1990 and 1994 concerts in order to prevent recordings of the older concerts from eating into sales of the 1998 recording. The FTC brought an enforcement action against PolyGram and Warner and found that moratorium agreement violated antitrust law. PolyGram and Warner appealed the FTC’s order, arguing that the agreement benefitted the long-term sales prospects of recordings of all three concerts.
Warner and Polygram: 

-each have separate rights to prior concerts 

- enter into a handshake agreement to stop advertising older records so that it would not interfere with sale of new joint concert 

-in house lawyer puts out public memo saying not doing this agreement


- but business people still go through with the agreement 

Language from the decision outlining quick look: 
-“First, the Commission must determine whether it is obvious from the nature of the challenged conduct that it will likely harm consumers.” 
- “If so, then the restraint is deemed ‘inherently suspect’ and, unless the defendant comes forward with some plausible (and legally cognizable) competitive justification for the restraint, summarily condemned.” 

- If the defendant offers a justification then FTC can: (1) explain why the restraint very likely harms consumers; or (2) proffer evidence that anticompetitive effects are likely.

- If the FTC came make either showing, “then the evidentiary burden shifts to the defendant to show the restraint in fact does not harm consumers or has ‘procompetitive virtues’ that outweigh its burden upon consumers.” 

Holding: Use quick look analysis. The order of the FTC is affirmed.
· Rebuttable presumption that the restraint is unlawful 

· By preventing advertising—direct competitors entering into horizontal agreement to restrict output 

· Defendants can offer explanation why FTC is wrong (not facially anticompetitive) 

· If can do that—get back to rule of reason 

· If cannot do that—have to show procompetitive justification 

· Here, Defendants say: trying to promote new album; don’t want it to have to compete with old albums 

· Court says that this is frontal assault on Sherman Act 

· Policy: cannot offer as justification shelving/limiting one product to increase production of another 
O’Bannon v. NCAA (2015): Full blown rule of reason analysis  
Facts: Only amateurs play in the NCAA. Schools may pay athletes grants-in-aid covering tuition and fees, room and board, and required textbooks. However, no athlete may receive pay for their athletic performance of any kind, including for use of the athlete’s name, image, and likeness (NIL). Former all-American UCLA basketball player Ed O’Bannon saw an avatar of himself in a video game. He had neither consented to nor been paid for its use. O’Bannon sued the NCAA and the Collegiate Licensing Company, which licenses NCAA trademarks, alleging that the rules forbidding paying an athlete violated the Sherman Antitrust Act. The trial court found the NCAA compensation rules to be an unlawful restraint of trade and enjoined it from prohibiting schools from paying athletes up to $5,000 deferred compensation. The NCAA appealed. 
NCAA tries to argue that: 

· Amateurism rules are not governed by antitrust laws 

· Court rejects this 

· Says amateurism is a factor to consider in rule of reason but does not get blanket immunity 

· §1 governs commercial activity, but this is about eligibility 

· Court says then you could classify anything as eligibility 

· NCAA is a commercial entity 

· Antitrust injury and standing (cover this later in semester) 

The Ninth Circuit addresses 2 threshold questions raised by the NCAA:

1. All NCAA amateurism rules are valid as a matter of law based on Board of Regents?

NO.

2. NCAA compensation rules are not subject to the Sherman Act at all?

NO.

**NOTE : The Ninth Circuit also addressed “antitrust injury” and standing. We will address those topics much later in the semester.**

What mode of analysis applies? 

· Rule of Reason

Why?

· “Because the ‘integrity of the product’ cannot be preserved except by mutual agreement,’ restraints on competition are essential if the product is to be available at all.” [Page 1069] (quoting Board of Regents)

· “Our decision not to apply a per se rule to this case rests in large part on our recognition that a certain degree of cooperation is necessary if the type of competition that [the NCAA] and its member institutions seek to market is to be preserved.” [Page 1069] (quoting Board of Regents )

Ninth Circuit applies 3 step framework for Rule of Reason:

1. Plaintiff bears initial burden of proof that the restraint causes significant anticompetitive effects.

a. Did Plaintiff provide evidence of anticompetitive effects in the market? YES 

i. What market did P show anticompetitive effects in? 

1. College education market 

ii. What is the harm to competition in that market? 

1. “precluding competition among schools” because “the NCAA’s compensation rules fix the price of one component (NIL rights) of the bundle that schools provide to recruits” 
2. Without this rule, athletes will go to the school that offers the best deal (competition in marketplace) 

2. If plaintiff meets this burden, the burden shifts to the defendant to provide evidence of procompetitive effects.

a. Did NCAA provide evidence of procompetitive justifications? YES 

i. What justifications did the 9th Circuit accept? 

1. Promoting amateurism 

a. From consumer p.o.v.—may be a separate demand for amateur athletics 

2. Integrating student-athletes with their schools’ academic community (but limited) 

a. Avoiding a “wedge” between athletes and rest of student body 

ii. Why? 

1. “Evidence that “amateur nature of collegiate sports increases their appeal to consumers” 

3. If defendant provides evidence of procompetitive effects then plaintiff must show legitimate objectives can be achieved in a “substantially less restrictive manner.”

a. Did plaintiffs provide evidence of a substantially less restrictive alternative? YES

i. What was the less restrictive alternative? 

1. Allowing NCAA member schools to give student-athletes grants-in-aid that cover the full cost of attendance 

ii. Why? 

1. No impact on amateurism 

2. “nothing in the record, moreover, suggested that consumers of college sports would become less interested in those sports if athletes’ scholarships covered their full cost of attendance.” 
iii. Why did majority reject the district court’s finding of paying student-athletes $5k in deferred compensation for use of NILs? 

1. Majority says it’s an assault on amateurism 

a. “the difference between offering student-athletes education-related compensation and offering them cash sums untethered to education expenses is not minor; it is a quantum leap. Once that line is crossed, we see no basis for returning to a rule of amateurism and no defined stopping point.” 

b. Dissent disagrees 

Holding: The rule of reason requires the NCAA to allow full-ride scholarships. 

Case was appealed to the Supreme Court, but Court let the ruling stand. 
Joint Ventures: 

In general, joint ventures are rule of reason

Texaco v. Dagher (2006) 
Facts: In 1998, Texaco Inc. and Shell Oil Company engaged in a joint venture to sell gasoline in the western United States. Equilon Enterprises  was established as the company overseeing the joint operation. Equilon’s board of directors consisted of representatives from both Texaco and Shell, and Texaco and Shell each agreed to pool their resources and share in the profits and losses of Equilon’s business activities. Equilon sold gasoline under both the Texaco and Shell brands and set a single price for each brand. Shortly after the joint venture began, a class composed of the owners of Texaco and Shell service stations, represented by Dagher, brought a complaint against Texaco and Shell, alleging that Equilon’s price-setting practice was a price-fixing agreement and thus per se unlawful under § 1 of the Sherman Act. 
District Court-> rule of reason, awarded summary judgement for Defendants 
9th Circuit-> reversed, per se 

Supreme Court-> reversed, rule of reason 

Issue: Is it per se unlawful under the Sherman Act for a joint venture to set prices for products sold by the joint venture?
Holding: No. 

· This joint venture was approved by the federal and state governments 

· On its face there is something procompetitive about this entity 

· Efficiency (Chicago School) 

· In a joint venture, two companies who would be competitors basically come together to form a single entity (sharing resources and risk) 

· Texaco and Shell=investors 

· Just because its procompetitive does not mean it can’t be unlawful (rule of reason) 

· Apply rule of reason in most instances to joint ventures 

· Different than Polygram, because in that case still two separate entities 

· In this case, Texaco and Shell are not competitors in the market for gasoline-service stations in the western United States. After their joint venture, Texaco and Shell became functionally and legally a single entity.
· As a result, any price setting by Equilon was not the result of a horizontal price-fixing agreement, but rather the decision by a single entity to set a certain price for the entity’s products. This result is not altered by the fact that Equilon sold gasoline under both the Texaco and Shell brands. A business entity has the right to sell products under different brand names and set prices for products. 
· The challenged price-setting practice is an essential activity of a lawful joint venture, and treating this practice as a per se violation would be inconsistent with antitrust precedent and the treatment of collaborative endeavors. 
Horizontal Market Divisions: 

Competitor A+B divide geographic sales territory, allocate fixed % of available business, allocate customers to each seller, etc. 

US v. Topco (1972) (seminal case)
Facts: Topco Associates, Inc. was a cooperative association consisting of roughly 25 regional supermarket chains operating throughout the United States. Topco served as a purchasing agent for the supermarket chains and provided over 1,000 different products to its members. Most of the products were distributed to the members under Topco brands, which proved to be very popular and particularly profitable to Topco members. Membership in Topco had to be approved by a board of directors composed of executives who were existing members, and membership was also conditioned on an affirmative vote of 75 percent by existing members. If an applicant wished to operate within 100 miles of an existing member, the existing member could require the affirmative vote for membership to be 85 percent. 
License gave members control over region 

· Practically no one else could sell Topco brands in the region 

· Either actual or de facto control (according to government) 

· Members would not allow someone new into someone else’s territory 

· Exclusive territory 

Impact on competition? 

· Consumer only has 1 outlet to buy Topco brand goods 

· horizontal agreement that restricts sale of Topco brand to anyone else at wholesale 

The United States brought a complaint against Topco, alleging that the arrangement violated § 1 of the Sherman Act. Specifically, the government argued that Topco members were engaged in an unlawful scheme to divide up the market for Topco-branded products into exclusive territories for the members. The government also contended that the membership requirements were used as a means to exclude competition. Topco argued that its members needed territorial divisions to effectively compete with larger national chains. 
District Court-> agreed with Topco, rule of reason 

Supreme Court-> per se. horizontal agreement among competitors to restrict competition. 

Topco said it should be allowed to offer procompetitive justifications 

· without it, members would compete with each other AND with larger chains 

· Court does not care—can’t argue too much competition as a defense to a horizontal restraint of trade 

Issue: Is an agreement between competitors to divide up a market into exclusive territories a per se violation of § 1 of the Sherman Act?
Holding: Yes. 

-  “Antitrust laws in general, and the Sherman Act in particular, are the Magna Carta of free enterprise. They are as important to the preservation of economic freedom and our free enterprise system as the Bill of Rights is to the protection of our fundamental personal freedom.”

- “And the freedom guaranteed each and every business, no matter how small, is the freedom to compete to assert with vigor, imagination, devotion, and ingenuity whatever economic muscle it can muster.” 

- FAMOUS LANGUAGE about importance of antitrust laws: Footnote 10 : “… Without the per se rules, businessmen would be left with little to aid them in predicting in any particular case what courts will find to be legal and illegal under the Sherman act. Should Congress ultimately determine that predictability is unimportant in this area of the law, it can, of course, make per se rules inapplicable in some or all cases, and leave courts free to ramble through the wilds of economic theory in order to maintain a flexible approach.”

- if we go down the path of incorporating economic battles into every case, it will just be a battle of experts. Need per se. 
Concurring: this may hurt competition, but still thinks per se

Dissent: says it should be rule of reason-> would allow Topco to argue procompetitive justifications 


-can’t make this argument under per se 
Palmer v. BRG of Georgia (1990) 
Facts: During the period of 1977 to 1979, Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Legal and Professional Publications and BRG of Georgia, Inc. were direct competitors in the market for bar-review courses in the State of Georgia. In 1980, HBJ gave BRG an exclusive license to use HBJ’s content and trademark within Georgia. In exchange, BRG would give HBJ a share of BRG’s revenue and a fee of $100 per enrollee. As part of the agreement, HBJ agreed not to compete with BRG within Georgia, and BRG agreed not to compete with HBJ outside of Georgia. After entering into this agreement, BRG raised its price from $150 to $400. Palmer sued BRG and HBJ, alleging that the agreement not to compete was a violation of § 1 of the Sherman Act. 
Plaintiff relies on Topco, says it should be per se. 

District Court and Circuit Court did not agree-> said that they had to be competitors in market before division

Holding: Supreme Court-> per se unlawful, cites Topco. 

RED FLAG RULE #3: 

Horizontal divisions of territory/customers are per se unlawful 

(US v. Topco; Palmer v. BRG of Georgia) 
Pharma/Patents “Reverse Payments”: 
FTC v. Actavis (2013)

Facts: 
· “reverse payment’ settlement agreement 

· Solvay= branded drug 

· Actavis= generic drug 

· a valid patent gives holder a monopoly

· once patent expires, generic allowed into market 

· Prices drop when generic allowed into market 

· Branded enters into agreement with generic 

· Branded pays generic to keep them out of the market 

· FTC alleges horizontal market division 

· Horizontal agreement between 2 competitors for one to stay out of the market 

· Hurts consumer because prices stay high 

Before this case, courts varied: 

1. Within the scope of patent, immune to antitrust 

2. Per se violation (analogized to Topco) 

3. Usually court encourages settlement—want people to resolve their cases 

a. Matter of policy, allow settlements to be upheld 

Supreme Court finally resolves this issue 

· Majority: do not need to even get into patent validity to determine antitrust claim 

· Look at anticompetitive effects from antitrust pov

· The agreement itself has anticompetitive effect 

· Without generic, consumer pays more money 

· Court doesn’t think this will be hard administratively 

· Court says lower courts can analyze these agreements under rule of reason 

· But leave it to the court on how to frame rule of reason (spectrum) 
· Cites California Dental 

Horizonal Refusals to Deal/ Group Boycotts: 

Fashion Originators’ Guild of America  v. FTC (1941) 
Facts: The Fashion Originators’ Guild of America was composed of various prominent members of the dressmaking industry, including manufacturers that accounted for between 38 percent and 60 percent of relevant market segments. A principal purpose of FOGA was to suppress competition from manufacturers that were copying original designs by FOGA members and selling knockoff garments for cheaper prices. Although FOGA considered this so-called style piracy to be unethical and potentially tortious under state law, this was not illegal under federal intellectual-property laws. In order to eliminate competition from knockoffs, FOGA threatened to boycott any retailer that sold competitive knockoff garments. FOGA had its own separate court to enforce and maintain their rules. The Federal Trade Commission issued a cease-and-desist order to FOGA, demanding cessation of the group boycott. FOGA appealed the FTC’s order to the court of appeals, which affirmed. The United States Supreme Court granted certiorari.

Holding: Court uses per se analysis 

· Agreement among direct competitors to boycott others from participating in the market is per se unlawful. 

· The explicit goal of FOGA’s boycott is to eliminate competition from cheaper alternative products, and this goal is not consistent with the text and values inherent in the Sherman Act. Because FOGA’s goal of suppressing competition is manifestly improper, the FTC did not err in refusing to hear evidence of the reasonableness or pro-competitive justifications of the FOGA group boycott. Furthermore, FOGA and its constituent members are free to seek redress in state court for any alleged tortious conduct. Unfair competition arguments under state law cannot justify anticompetitive horizontal restraints under federal antitrust law. The group boycott at issue in this case is facially anticompetitive based on these considerations and must be ceased.
Klors v. Broadway-Hale Stores (1959)
Facts: In 1952, Klor’s Inc. began operations as a retail store for household appliances. Broadway-Hale Stores, Inc maintained a chain of department stores. Broadway-Hale opened a store next to Klor’s, and the two stores competed directly in the market for household appliances. As competition intensified, Klor’s brought a complaint against Broadway-Hale, alleging that Broadway-Hale was conspiring with manufacturers and distributors of well-known home-appliance brands to boycott Klor’s by either not selling to Klor’s or by selling to Klor’s at unreasonable prices. Klor’s further alleged that Broadway-Hale had used a monopoly position to compel the arrangement and that the boycott on Klor’s business had significantly reduced the ability of Klor’s to compete against Broadway-Hale in the market for household appliances. At trial, Broadway-Hale did not dispute the allegations and instead produced evidence that (1) hundreds of additional retailers were offering the products that Klor’s claimed were being kept out of its store, and (2) the public thus had not been harmed by any agreement between Broadway-Hale and the manufacturers and distributors.
District Court says it’s a private quarrel- no public harm to warrant antitrust (other stores selling the appliances). 

· Grants Broadway-Hale’s motion for summary judgment 

Appellate Court affirms 

Holding: Supreme Court -> Klors clearly stated a claim to show trade restraint and public harm under Sherman Act. 

· This kind of boycott is per se unlawful 

· Why? Not going to allow horizontal competitors to boycott other competitors in the market
· “As such it is not to be tolerated merely because the victim is just one merchant whose business is so small that his destruction makes little difference to the economy .” 

· Antitrust is there to protect the competitive process (even small business) 

· Pre-Chicago School 

· Economic Bill of Rights 

· Still good law, but the scope has been reduced by subsequent case law (ex. Nynex, northwest wholesale)
Under §1, group boycotts are per se unlawful. 
Radiant Burners v. Peoples Gas Light & Coke Co. (1961) 
Facts: Plaintiff sold gas burners and needed the stamp of approval from trade association so consumers could buy it. Defendant was an association that tested safety and effectiveness, and provided “seal of approval”. Defendant’s members were Plaintiff’s direct competitors. Association applied subjective rather than objective criterion--Plaintiff was never able to get seal of approval despite being on par with others in the market. 

District Court dismisses complaint 

7th Circuit affirms—says no harm to the public (plenty of other gas burners being sold)
· Defendant says that there is enough of the product in the marketplace 

Holding: Supreme Court cites Klors—doesn’t matter how small the company is. Per se violation
· If you can allege and prove group boycott by direct competitors to keep you out of the market—per se violation 
NYNEX Corp.  v. Discon (1998) 
Facts: Dealing with removal services. DOJ broke up AT&T monopoly, needed to remove the old machinery and install new machinery that competitors can connect to. A market developed for the removal of old telephone equipment. Discon, Inc. (plaintiff), was a company that removed old telephone equipment for New York Telephone Company, which was owned by NYNEX Corporation. Materiel Enterprises was also owned by Nynex and was responsible for purchasing removal services for NYC Co. Eventually, Discon was dropped as NYC Co.’s provider of removal services in favor of a competitor of Discon’s, AT&T Technologies. Material would get kickback from AT&T, Discon refused to participate and lost the business. Discon brought a lawsuit, claiming in part that Nynex, Materiel, and NYC Co. had engaged in coordinated anticompetitive activities to remove Discon from the market.
USDC grants motion to dismiss (failure to state a claim) 

2nd Circuit-> affirmed with exception (could be a boycott) 

Supreme Court grants cert. to determine if per boycott alleged is vertical, not horizontal. 

Issue: Does group boycott per se rule apply with only 1 buyer and 1 seller? 

Holding: per se does not apply; should be rule of reason. 

· Rule: To be per se, at a minimum would have to be a horizontal agreement among the direct competitors. 

· “… antitrust law does not permit the application of the per se rule in the boycott context in the absence of a horizontal agreement.”

· If purely vertical: rule of reason 

· Here, vertical agreement, therefore rule of reason 

· All vertical agreements (now) are rule of reason 

· At the time of this case—some vertical agreements still per se (don’t get confused from language in this case) 

· Court: policy 

· Don’t want to have an antitrust situation every time someone is unhappy in the marketplace 

· There are other avenues to pursue these private claims (contract, business tort, etc) 

· Do not overenforcement of antitrust laws (heavy artillery compared to other claims) 
· If this isn’t big enough to impact competitive environment, use other claims 

· Influence of Chicago School 

· To invoke antitrust, want to see harm to more than the 1 entity

· Tension with the decisions in Klors and Radiant burner (those cases decided under Economic Bill of Rights); this case under Chicago School (focus on efficiency) 
· Plaintiff will cite to Klors 

· Defendant will cite to more modern cases 
· “We conclude that no boycott related per se rule applies and that the plaintiff here must allege and prove harm, not just to a single competitor, but to the competitive, process, i.e., to competition itself…”

· TAKEAWAY: If it is a 1v1 vertical boycott-> rule of reason. If horizontal aspect, still have a shot at arguing per se. 
Northwest Wholesale Stationers v. Pacific Stationary & Printing (1985) (seminal case on when per se vs rule of reason applies for boycotts) 
Facts: Northwest was a purchasing cooperative. It acted as a primary wholesaler for retailers. Members and nonmembers could buy at the same price, but only members received a % of the profits. Pacific sold at both wholesale and retail.  After Pacific was a member of Northwest, Northwest amended its bylaws and said that members can’t sell wholesale. Pacific’s membership was grandfathered in. When Pacific changed ownership, it did not notify Northwest and violated the bylaws. Northwest took a vote and expelled Pacific. Pacific sued and argued expulsion without procedural protection is a group boycott. (Group of direct competitors in cooperative, kick out P, P does not get a % of the profits). 

USDC-> says rule of reason 

· Found no anticompetitive effect 

· P is actually bigger (more sales) than cooperative 

9th Circuit-> reversed, applied per se 

· “concerted refusal to deal”= group boycott 

Holding: Supreme Court-> rule of reason 

· We are looking at the conduct itself and whether or not it’s a group boycott, not procedural protection 

· Court says per se applies to group boycotts when lose access to a market that is necessary to compete 

· Horizontal agreement that cuts off access 
· Here: nature of defendants makes this a different case…

· The purpose of a buying cooperative= good for efficiency; stimulates competition (economies of scale, ensures ready access to goods) 

· Like BMI, Texaco -> apply rule of reason; procompetitive 

· Buying cooperative by its inherent nature can be procompetitive 

· A buying cooperative can still be subject to per se rule if it possesses market power or exclusive access to an element essential to effective competition 

· “Unless the cooperative possesses market power or exclusive access to an element essential to effective cooperation, the conclusion that expulsion [from a wholesale cooperative] is virtually always likely to have an anticompetitive effect is not warranted…” 

Red Flag Rule #4: 

Group boycotts are potentially per se unlawful if they involve horizontal agreements among competitors and the conduct at issue cuts off access to a supply, facility, or market necessary to enable the boycotted firm to compete 
FTC v. Indiana Federation of Dentists (1986)
Facts: In 1976, a group of dentists in Indiana formed the Indiana Federation of Dentists  and began a policy of ignoring requests from dental-insurance companies for the X-rays of patients. Members of the Federation are direct competitors. Dental insurers had been using X-rays to determine the cheapest adequate treatment for patients, and the Federation viewed this practice as a danger to the autonomy and ability of dentists to succeed financially. 
FTC brings suit: alleges a group of horizontal competitors boycotting insurance companies 

FTC Commission finds that this is unlawful 

7th Circuit-> vacates the order 

Holding: Supreme Court-> says it was a violation 

· Applies rule of reason 

· Per se does not apply because it is not a direct competitor that is being boycotted here. 

· “Although this Court has in the past stated that group boycotts are unlawful pe se . . . We decline to resolve this case by forcing the Federation’s policy into the ‘boycott’ pigeonhole and invoking the per se rule.” 

· On its face, not a hard case to decide even under rule of reason 

· “Application of the Rule of Reason to these facts is not a matter of great difficulty… While this is not price fixing as such, no elaborate industry analysis is required to demonstrate the anticompetitive character of such an agreement.” 

· Court quotes a lot of language from NCAA v. Board of Regents (“naked restraint”) 

· If you have direct evidence of harm to competition, do not have to go through full blown market analysis 

· “Since the purpose of the inquiries into market definition and market power is to determine whether an arrangement has the potential for genuine adverse effects on competition, ‘proof of actual detrimental effects, such as a reduction in output,’ can obviate the need for an inquiry into market power, which is but a surrogate for detrimental effects.” 
· It is alone enough to demonstrate the anticompetitive character of such an agreement 

· Here, insurance companies want to see X-rays to make sure treatment is justified and there isn’t a cheaper alternative 

· Horizonal agreement to restrict flow of information 

· Defendants offered procompetitive justifications 

· Better for public health 

· Court rejects- frontal assault on Sherman Act to suggest that more information in marketplace is bad for competition 

· Says insurance companies can still come to office and get x-rays

· Court rejects-> not reasonable procompetitive justification 

· Court uses short circuited rule of reason

· Some scholars think this is “quick look” type of analysis 

· Here, P can bypass showing of anticompetitive effects is can demonstrate direct evidence of harm to competition 

FTC. Superior Court Trial Lawyers (revisited) 

· Court applied per se (per se boycott) 
· Defendant’s try to argue Indiana Fed. Of Dentists

· A direct competitor not being boycotted 

· Footnotes 19 (majority), 9 (Dissent) 

· Having a debate 

· FN 19: recognizing potential inconsistency tries to justify per se application because it is also a horizontal price fixing agreement 
Toys ‘R’ Us v. FTC (2000) 
Facts: Toys “R” Us, Inc. (Toys R Us) (defendant) was a major toy retailer responsible for approximately 20 percent of all toy sales in the United States. Beginning in the late 1970s, low-price warehouse clubs began competing with Toys R Us. By the early 1990s, toy manufacturers were looking to reduce their dependence on Toys R Us, and warehouse clubs were steadily increasing their share of the toy-selling market. In 1992, Toys R Us entered a series of individual vertical agreements with toy manufacturers. The manufacturers individually agreed to restrict distribution of toys to warehouse clubs and give Toys R Us preferential treatment. Each manufacturer only entered into the agreement after knowing its competitors would do the same Afterward, the warehouse clubs’ market share shrunk. The Federal Trade Commission (FTC) (plaintiff) sued Toys R Us, alleging the vertical agreements violated the Sherman Act and § 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act. The FTC also claimed Toys R Us had facilitated a horizontal boycott, or group refusal to deal, among toy manufacturers.
FTC alleges horizontal per se violation 
Issue: Does a retailer in a vertical relationship with multiple manufacturers violate antitrust law if the retailer coordinates a horizontal conspiracy among those manufacturers to exclude the retailer’s competitors?
Holding: Yes. 

· In this case, there is direct evidence of the vertical agreements, but the evidence of any horizontal conspiracy is circumstantial. However, the manufacturers’ sudden refusal to sell toys to warehouse clubs is not explainable by any independent self-interest
· Inferred horizontal agreement: vertical agreements with Toys R Us were conditioned on all other manufacturers entering into the same agreement 

· Toys R Us assured manufacturers that it would get horizontal competitors to all agree to give Toys R Us better treatment than its warehouse competitors 
· Toys R Us merchandising president facilitated this indirect agreement among manufacturers.
· Court said that this is enough to infer horizontal agreement 

· Because court finds horizontal agreement-> per se standard 

Inferring Agreements: 

Ways to prove existence of an agreement (evidence) 

(1) Direct evidence

a. Hard copy documents 

b. Witnesses

c. Audio tapes, etc

(2) Circumstantial evidence

How do we determine the difference between normal oligopoly pricing and antitrust violations? 

· Problem antitrust has been dealing with 

· “follow the leader” behavior 

· Not much incentive to engage in price war in oligopoly (very few players in market) 

· In oligopoly situation -> all other things being equal, lowing prices does NOT equal increase in market share. It leads to a decrease in profits because competitors maintain lowered price 

· Is there enough to invoke antitrust or is it just normal business behavior… 

Interstate Circuit v. US (1939) (Hub-and-Spoke Conspiracy) 
Facts: Interstate Circuit, Inc. and Texas Consolidated Theaters were movie-theater companies that dominated the market for showing films in various Texas cities. Interstate and Consolidated entered into agreements with eight independent companies that distributed 75 percent of all first-run films to U.S. theaters. The agreements specified the terms on which the theaters owned by Interstate and Consolidated would show the films. A letter written by O’Donnell, Interstate’s manager, made two demands as a condition of Interstate’s continued agreement to show a particular distributor’s films: (1) that the distributor agree that on subsequent runs it would not permit its films to be shown in theaters charging an admission price of less than 25 cents and (2) that the distributor agree not to permit its first-run films to be shown on a double-bill with another feature film. O’Donnell’s letter to each distributor listed all of the distributors who were receiving the document. Subsequently, each distributor agreed with O’Donnell’s demands. DOJ alleges conspiracy in violation of §1. 

The trial court found that the distributors had agreed and conspired with one another to take uniform action with respect to O’Donnell’s demands and thus violated § 1 of the Sherman Act.
· Horizontal agreement among studios-> per se violation  
Issue: question presented to the Supreme Court was whether there was enough evidence to infer agreement among studios

Holding: Yes, there is enough evidence to infer the agreement 

· The letter: 

· All studios on notice that competitors received same letter 

· Purpose behind this? Make everyone aware that competitors were also aware 

· What was being proposed was a substantial departure from prior practice 

· Gives inference that this was not unilateral conduct 

· What did the court say about the defense offered by the studios? 

· The fact that studio executives did not testify leads to the inference that Defendant’s had not “real defense” against agreement 

· Court says circumstantial evidence is strong enough to infer an agreement 

· Therefore, per se violation

Theater Enterprises v. Paramount Film Distributing Corp.  (1954) 
Facts: Plaintiff exhibitor cannot get access to first run films from the studios. Plaintiff is a small theater in a Baltimore suburb (Theater Enterprises Inc) . The Defendants are Paramount and other competing production companies, who limited first run films to downtown theaters (entered into “clearances” with the downtown theaters).  A clearance is a vertical agreement that no one within a certain mile radius is able to license the same movie. Leading up to and after opening, TEI attempted to obtain first-run films from Paramount and several competing production companies  to show in the suburban theater. The production companies refused on a number of different grounds and adhered to the current policy of limiting first-run films to eight theaters located in downtown Baltimore
Plaintiff responded by bringing suit against the production companies, alleging that the policy of limiting first-run films to downtown theaters constituted an unlawful conspiracy among competitors to restrain competition in violation of the Sherman Act.
Trial Court-> jury returned verdict of no conspiracy 

Appeals Court-> Affirmed

TEI Appeal to Supreme Court-> argue that they should have had a directed verdict (case shouldn’t have gone to jury)

· Rely on Interstate Circuit

Holding: Supreme Court says parallel behavior 

· What competitors are doing does not impact studios decision to enter into clearances 

· Downtown in the optimal location to maximize profits 

· Makes economic sese to make this decision independently 

· This is different from Interstate

· No basis to infer agreement even though behavior is parallel

· Affirmed. 

TAKEAWAY: distinguishes Interstate--parallel behavior standing alone is not enough to infer the existence of an agreement. (Difference from Interstate: agreement not necessary for each Defendant to act in the same way—legitimate business interest). Need parallel conduct and a ‘plus factor’ (plus factor= Defendant acting against own interest)

Toys ‘R’ Us (revisited)  

· Court said enough evidence to infer agreement because:  
· The letter: 

· All studios on notice that competitors received same letter 

· Purpose behind this? Make everyone aware that competitors were also aware 

· What was being proposed was a substantial departure from prior practice 

· Gives inference that this was not unilateral conduct 

Procedural standard for inferring agreements: 

Bell Atlantic v. Twombly (2007) (Standard for Motion to Dismiss) 
Facts: Builds off of AT&T breaking up. (ICLES- “Bells” control geographic territories). Congress wants to increase competition so it introduces new competitors (CLECS), and assumed that ILECS would go int0 each other’s markets and compete but this doesn’t happen. William Twombly (plaintiff), on behalf of a putative class of telephone and high-speed internet subscribers, filed a complaint alleging that Bell Atlantic Corporation (defendant) violated § 1 of the Sherman Act, which prohibits conspiracies in restraint of trade. The complaint alleged that Bell Atlantic conspired with other local telephone companies by means of conscious parallelism to inhibit the growth of upstart telecommunications companies and to eliminate competition with each other. The alleged purpose of the conspiracy was to allow each involved local telephone company to dominate a specific market. Twombly did not introduce any additional evidence of an agreement between the companies. In district court, Bell Atlantic moved to dismiss under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). 
USDC-> grants motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim. 

Appeals Court-> reverses (uses Conley v. Gibson rule) saying that there are some set of facts to allege a claim 

Holding: Supreme Court-> reverses; Plaintiff cannot proceed with claim 

· Allegations insufficient 

· Plaintiff did not have direct evidence 

· Circumstantial evidence? 

· Plaintiff alleges inference because ILECS are not competing with each other 

· Court rejects this, cites Theater Enterprises 

· Parallel behavior, but it’s not enough 

· Looks at history of ILEC business/operation -> born into world of monopoly 

· None of them every went into each other’s territory 
· Legal standard to get past motion to dismiss: have to allege enough facts to make allegations plausible. Bare assertion of conspiracy will not suffice
· Why? Policy 

· Discovery is very expensive and time consuming 

· Defendants would have to settle out to avoid spending millions to win a case 

· Here class was very large

· Judges to overwhelmed to monitor 

· Won’t let a case go forward unless Plaintiff can meet plausibility standard 

Summary Judgement Standard: Matsushita v. Zenith Radio Corp. (1986) 
· Key : Conduct as consistent with competition as with conspiracy does not, standing alone, support an inference of antitrust conspiracy. Plaintiff must show evidence “that tends to exclude the possibility that the alleged conspirators acted independently.”

· Need plus factor 

· Worried there might be overenforcement of legitimate behavior in the marketplace 

· Note: Supreme Court later holds in Eastman Kodak that there is no heightened summary judgement standard for antitrust 

· Can these 2 decisions be reconciled? 

In re Text Messaging (2015)
https://www.gtlaw.com/en/insights/2015/5/parallel-texts-tacit-collusion-still-legal 

Facts: The plaintiffs filed a class action suit, alleging that AT&T, Verizon, Sprint, and T-Mobile and a trade association to which they belonged conspired to fix text messaging prices in violation of the Sherman Act. The carriers supplied 90 percent of the text messaging service in the country and exchanged pricing information at their trade association meetings. The plaintiffs presented evidence that the carriers uniformly changed pricing structures to encourage volume-based discounts. The plaintiffs also presented evidence that the carriers increased their prices for price per use (PPU) text messages despite the fact that the cost of providing text messaging services had decreased. 
Although the plaintiffs’ complaint did not contain direct evidence of price fixing, the district court denied the carriers’ motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim. The carriers appealed. The United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit affirmed, finding that circumstantial evidence of the conspiracy was sufficient to support the plaintiffs’ claim. To withstand a motion to dismiss, an antitrust complaint need only state a plausible claim of price fixing. Any actual price fixing could be revealed during discovery. After discovery, the plaintiffs produced an email from one T-Mobile executive to another stating that the company’s text messaging price increase “was colusive [sic] and opportunistic,” which they claimed was evidence of deliberate collusion. The carriers argued that they engaged in merely tacit collusion. The district court granted the carriers’ motion for summary judgment. The plaintiffs appealed.
Issue: Does tacit collusion, also known as conscious parallelism, violate the Sherman Act?
Holding: No. 

· ‘tacit collusion’ = parallel conduct 

· Maybe an understanding or agreement but do not have enough evidence to say there is an express agreement 

· Tacit collusion is NOT enough (same as in Theater Enterprises) 

· Why is there not enough to infer agreement? 

· Market shifted from ‘per use’ to bundled services 

· Consumers in Plaintiff’s class don’t really use text messaging enough to switch plans 

· Question courts are really asking: Does the circumstantial evidence infer an agreement or is there an independent reason why businesses are doing this? 

· On summary judgement under antitrust law, TIE DOES NOT GO TO THE PLAINTIFF

In re high fructose corn syrup (2002) 
Facts: In the 1980s, the market for high fructose corn syrup (HFCS) was highly concentrated, with five HFCS producers accounting for 90 percent of sales. The HFCS products were standardized and fungible. In 1988, one producer raised its price, and the other four producers immediately followed. A class of HFCS buyers sued, alleging a price-fixing conspiracy in violation of § 1 of the Sherman Act. The parties agreed that the plaintiffs had to show an explicit, not merely tacit, agreement. The plaintiffs presented evidence that the defendants had excess production capacity, yet they still bought HFCS from one another and resold it to customers. Additionally, the defendants’ market share remained stable even as output grew. The plaintiffs presented noneconomic evidence in the form of statements from the defendants suggesting a conspiracy, including references to “an understanding within the industry not to undercut each other’s prices” and to new entrants having to “play by the rules.” The district court held there was not enough evidence for a reasonable jury to find the existence of a price-fixing conspiracy and granted summary judgment to the defendants. The plaintiffs appealed.
Holding: 7th Circuit-> reversed, there was enough evidence 

· 2 types of evidence in circumstantial case: 

· (1) economic 

· Marketplace structure

· Market behavior 

· (2) non-economic 

· Statements made by Defendant (“competitors are friends”) 

· Plant manager- understanding to not undercut each other’s prices 

· Executives in jail for other conspiracy, refused to testify 

· Judge says that the fact that these people already in jail invoked 5th amendment leads to inferences that they didn’t want to incriminate themselves further 

· In federal civil cases can comment and draw inferences when someone pleads the 5th (this is flipped in state court) 

· Economic evidence not required- but will often try to use it to bolster non-economic evidence 

· 7th Circuit says there is enough to get this case to trial 

· Reasonable jury could find existence of an agreement 

· 3 traps that trial judge should be wary of on summary judgment

· (1) weighing the evidence is a job for the jury 

· (2) Do not just look at one piece of evidence standing alone—when using circumstantial evidence, Plaintiff is entitled to judge looking at totality of circumstances when deciding on summary judgement 

· (3) failing to distinguish between the existence and efficiency of a conspiracy 

· Doesn’t matter if it was effective, once you enter into the agreement—violate §1 

· Why is this market conducive to a conspiracy? 

· What is it about market structure? 

· Highly concentrated market that controlled 90% of product 

· Product is highly standardized (only 2 types) 

· These make it easier to price fix 

· What does Posner says about Tacit agreements in this case? (2002)

· Sherman Act itself was broad enough to encompass tacit agreement alone 

· But-> in re text messaging (more recent decision, 2015) 

· Says tacit agreement alone is not actionable, need something more (something overt) 

US v. Apple (2015) 
Facts: When Amazon introduced the Kindle in 2009, it offered downloadable bestseller and new-release e-books for just $9.99. The move threatened to upset traditional publishing pricing structures, which charged up to $30 for new hardbacks and bestsellers. By late 2009, Apple, Inc. (codefendant), planned to launch the iPad using the iBookstore as its virtual marketplace for e-books. Apple negotiated with the six largest American publishing companies (the “Big Six”) (codefendants) to change pricing structures to an agency model, in which they would charge $19.99 for new releases and $14.99 for bestsellers and pay Apple a commission. Apple counsel added a “most favored nation” (MFN) clause requiring the publishers to match prices available elsewhere, including Amazon (but in an agency model).Under agency model Apple and Amazon get 30% cut. The agency model allows the publisher to control prices to consumers 

 Although it appeared the publishers would earn less per book, once most of the Big Six adopted the new scheme, they together could make Amazon raise its prices by withholding books. Apple encouraged the Big Six to unite against the $9.99 e-book, assuring them they were all contracting on identical terms. Ultimately, five of the Big Six contracted to sell through iBookstore. When Steve Jobs introduced the iPad, he explained that consumers would pay higher iBookstore prices because Amazon’s Kindle e-book prices would increase to match. One day later, the publishers began threatening Amazon with book delays until it also shifted to agency pricing. Ultimately Amazon had to change to the agency model. Once Amazon switched, the publishers increased book prices. E-book prices remained 16.8 percent higher over six months and remained elevated two years later. 
The Department of Justice and 33 states and territories (plaintiffs) sued Apple and the publishers for violating antitrust laws by conspiring to fix prices (hub-and-spoke conspiracy). Apple and publishers argue rule of reason (vertical agreements). The publishers all settled out, but Apple proceeded to trial. 
District Court->found that Apple conspired with the publishers to fix prices horizontally, a per se violation of the Sherman Antitrust Act. Apple appealed.
Holding: 2nd Circuit-> affirmed. Per se 

· Relied on Klors and Nynex 
· Language from Monsanto on pg 323… standard for determining agreement 

· “The Supreme Court has defined an agreement for Sherman Act § 1 purposes as ‘ a conscious commitment to a common scheme designed to achieve an unlawful objective .’” [Page 323] (quoting Monsanto Co. v. Spray Rite Serv. Corp ., 465 U.S. 752, 764 (1984)).

· Apple orchestrated vertical agreements, becomes horizontal conspiracy 

· “In short, the relevant ‘agreement in restraint of trade’ in this case is the price fixing conspiracy identified by the district court, not Apple’s vertical contracts with the publisher Defendants.”

· Analogy to Toys R Us, Interstate Circuit 

· Apple at the center of the agreement between book sellers

· Type of agreement that works only if all publishers agree 

· It was an agreement that intended to price fix 

· Apple argues that it needed to this to enter into the market (cites BMI, NCAA) 

· Court rejects this 

· Barnes and Noble entered the market without doing it 

· Apple could have brought a section 2 claim, but cannot engage in unlawful behavior to fight fire with fire… 
{MFN clauses in general are fine—standing alone not necessarily anticompetitive. However, in Apple used as the vehicle to effectuate the agreement} 
Trade associations and Information Exchange: 

Trade associations can be procompetitive—see page 284 of textbook
ON AN EXAM WITH PURE INFORMATION EXCHANGE FACT PATTERN: 

· (1) analytically distinct claim from horizontal price fixing—rule of reason (Todd v Exxon) 

· (2) see if there is enough evidence (facts) to allege horizontal price fixing

· Twombly ->parallel conduct not enough, need plus factor 

· Plus factor: Toys R Us, Interstate Circuit 

· Can you infer an agreement? If so, red flag rule #2

American Column and Lumber Co. v. US (1921) (sharing of future information) 
Facts: In 1918, the American Hardwood Manufacturers’ Association (AHMA) instituted an open-competition plan. The plan created a system for hardwood lumber producers to share information. The plan was optional, but 365 members of the AHMA joined the plan (defendants). Plan participants would send detailed information about sales, inventory, and prices to the AHMA secretary. The AHMA secretary then compiled, summarized, and disseminated this information to the plan participants. The secretary also issued market-report letters that contained statistical analyses of present and future market conditions. The plan participants attended regular meetings to discuss market conditions and production levels. Through these communications, the AHMA also issued opinions and suggestions for conducting business. In 1919, shortly after the plan’s adoption, the price of hardwood lumber rose significantly. The United States sued the defendants, arguing that the plan violated the Sherman Act’s prohibition on combinations in restraint of trade. The United States pointed to evidence that, during meetings, the defendants had blatantly suggested that restricting production and increasing prices would be profitable.
Facts not in dispute. 

Issue: Given the facts, is this over the line or justified? 

What was the purpose of the plan? 

· Trying to prevent cut throat competition and substitute it with cooperative competition 

· How did they effectuate information exchange among competitors? 

· Information goes to a “clearing house” that produced reports 

· In person meetings 

USDC-> violation of §1

Holding: Supreme Court-> affirmed 

· Why is it clearly a violation? 

· Exchange of information about the future pricing and production. 

· Sharing info of past/closed transactions is okay 

Rule: Sharing of future information is highly suspect and almost always a violation. 
Dissent: information sharing can be procompetitive 

· Allows them to make decisions based on information, helps compete against bigger firms 
US v. Container Corp. of America (1969) 
Facts: Container Corporation of America is a manufacturer of shipping containers. Container Corp. and 17 other container manufacturers (defendants) maintained a practice of sharing pricing information with each other upon request. There was no formal agreement between the container manufacturers, but each of the competitors generally provided the price information with the understanding that a request for information would be reciprocated in the future. Together, the container manufacturers constituted 90 percent of the relevant market. The United States brought a complaint against the container manufacturers, alleging that the price-sharing practice constituted unlawful concerted action in violation of § 1 of the Sherman Act. 

There was no express agreement, no constant exchange of information (tacit understanding/ agreement that if a competitor asks, you give current price information). DOJ says horizontal agreement among direct competitors. 

Holding: Majority agrees with DOJ, why? 

· Products similar, Defendants owned 90% of market share 

· What was happening in the market that the court says is unusual? 

· More people were entering inro the market even though price was going down 

· Inference that there was an agreement among competitors to stabilize market 

Concurrence -> agrees with majority but cautions that rule of reason should be used because information can have procompetitive effects 

Dissent: wanted to see more economic evidence 

· Rule of reason 

· Government did not meet its burden of showing economic effects 

Information agreement standing alone is rule of reason unless it crosses over into being part of a larger horizontal price-fixing agreement
Todd v. Exxon (2001) (modern iteration of info exchange; analytically distinct claim for information exchange) 
Facts: Exxon Corporation and 13 other oil companies (defendants) made up 80 to 90 percent of the oil and petrochemical industry. These defendants shared salary information with each other using various types of surveys and meetings. The salary information was compiled, analyzed, and disseminated by Towers Perrin, a third-party consultant. The defendants then used the information to set salaries for managerial, professional, and technical (MPT) employees. Roberta Todd sued on behalf of a class of Exxon employees alleging an unlawful information exchange in violation of § 1 of the Sherman Act. The plaintiffs argued that the defendants’ information exchange artificially depressed MPT salaries. 

Allegation: big companies conspired to decrease salary- §1 violation. 

How: Defendant’s conducted surveys, used information to standardize salaries 

· But for this conduct, plaintiff says defendants would have to compete with higher salaries 
USDC-> grants motion to dismiss (Plaintiff did not meet any requirements) 

Holding: Circuit Court-> The district court’s dismissal order is vacated, and the case is remanded. 
· Alleging an information exchange mechanism that facilitates tacit coordination and depresses MPT salaries is enough to state a claim for a violation of the Sherman Act.
Theory that Applies: 

· Doctrinally different than traditional horizontal price fixing 

· Would be harder to prove that there was an actual agreement 

· Information exchange had stabilizing effects on wages 

· What is the difference between these 2 claims? 

· In a horizontal price fixing agreement, per se unlawful (just have to show agreement for violation) 

· Information exchange subject to rule of reason (can have procompetitive effects)

· (need to show anticompetitive effects outweigh procompetitive justification; need to define relevant market, market power)

· Departure from Container Corp and American Lumber 

· But even though exchange of future info is under rule of reason now—hasn’t seen a case where it isn’t a violation 

· Reasoning: information exchange can be useful in the market 

· Plaintiff has two options: 

· (1) if have enough to get past Twombly standard—per se 

· If can infer information exchange is part of a larger horizontal price fixing agreement 

· (2) if do not have enough to infer horizontal price agreement but infer that information exchange is being used to stabilize wages—rule of reason 

· “There is a closely related but analytically distinct type of claim, also based on § 1 of the Sherman Act, where the violation lies in the information exchange itself as opposed to merely using the information exchange as evidence upon which to infer a price fixing

agreement. This exchange of information is not illegal per se but can be found unlawful under a rule of reason analysis.” 
Refresher on how to analyze rule of reason: 

· Alleged market: MPT employees in oil and petrochemical industry 

· Defense argument: issues with this market

· Employees could not easily be substituted with each other 

· Lawyers, engineers, managers

· How can all be in the same market? 

· Court: Plaintiffs have stated a market

· It’s not literally that a lawyer will compete with manager but that overall using information on wages for various categories and harmonizing it in a way that will impact everyone in this category the same way

· Interchangeability from perspective of employee for job opportunity- USDC looking at it too narrowly 

· Market definition (generally): because it’s so fact intensive, courts hesitate to grant motion to dismiss at pleading stage for failure to plead relevant product market 

· Will usually wait until summary judgement when there is a factual record 
· Doesn’t mean the defendants won’t raise it in every case 

· In this circuit (2nd Circuit) -> do not need to show market share (threshold), can infer it from adverse effect on the market 

· For pleading purposes, if Plaintiff alleges unique monopsony situation it should be viewed as such 
· Should be able to that allege market (for 12(b)(6)—take facts and allegations as true) . 

· Plaintiff will still have to hire economist to prove that this is a cognizable market, to convince court to get past summary judgement 

· but enough to get past pleading stage 

· Notes that Defendant argued-> no harm to competitive process, therefore no antitrust injury 

· Court thinks that Plaintiffs have satisfied harm to competition for pleading purposes

· Theory of harm: harm to these employees that these wages have been suppressed. 
Copperweld & Intra-Enterprise Conspiracy: 

Copperweld Corp. v. Independence Tube Corp. (1984) 
Facts: In 1972, David Grohne established Independence Tube Corporation. Independence was a potential competitor of Regal Tube Company in the market for steel tubing. Regal had previously employed Grohne as an executive while under ownership by Lear Siegler, Inc. After Regal was purchased by Copperweld Corporation, Grohne continued to work for Lear Siegler under an agreement stating that Lear Siegler and its employees, including Grohne, would not compete with Regal for five years. Independence attempted to purchase supplies from Yoder Company to start doing business, but Copperweld informed Yoder of the non-compete agreement that Grohne had signed. As a result, Yoder voided Independence’s purchase order, and Independence’s business operations were delayed for nine months. In response, Independence brought a suit against Copperweld and Regal, alleging that the two entities had conspired for anticompetitive purposes in violation of § 1 of the Sherman Act. 

Issue: can coordinated acts of a parent and its wholly owned subsidiary conspire under §1? 

Holding: No. “… the coordinated activity of a parent and its wholly owned subsidiary must be viewed as that of a single enterprise for purposes of § 1 of the Sherman Act.” 
· Intra enterprise conspiracy doctrine rejected 

· Parent and wholly owned subsidiary viewed as single entity 

· Why? 

· Activity of parent and wholly owned subsidiary have a unity of purpose

· Court focuses on whether you have independent decision maker in the market 

· Concerted action is judged more strictly under §1

· Unilateral decision making is okay 

· But if two horizontal competitors make agreements -> competition is stifled 

· Court is more concerned about combination and agreement under §1 

· §2 is unilateral behavior -> not viewed as severely 

· Anything under §2 requires full blown market analysis (rule of reason) 

{partial ownership is all over the place in case law. Supreme Court hasn’t dealt with it—it all depends on the facts of your case and what Circuit you are in. 51% is rule of thumb in some jurisdictions but it all depends} 
American Needle v. NFL (2010) 
Facts: Prior to 1963, the various teams within the National Football League (NFL) made their own arrangements for licensing and marketing trademarked merchandise items such as caps and jerseys featuring the team’s logo and mark. In 1963, the teams formed the National Football League Properties (NFLP) to coordinate the development and licensing of the teams’ merchandise. Between 1963 and 2000, the NFLP granted nonexclusive licenses to a number of vendors, including American Needle, Inc., to manufacture and sell apparel featuring team logos. In December 2000, however, the NFLP granted a 10-year exclusive license to Reebok to manufacture and sell trademarked gear for all 32 teams. American Needle’s license was not renewed. American Needle filed suit against the NFL alleging violations of §§ 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act. Specifically, American Needle claimed that the NFL and the NFLP conspired to restrict the distribution of the teams’ intellectual property rights.
USDC-> single entity, granted summary judgment motion 

7th Circuit-> affirmed

Issue: Is the NFL, and NFL Properties, subject to Section 1 of the Sherman Act? Or should the NFL be viewed as a single enterprise per Copperweld? 

Holding: Subject to §1. Supreme Court reverses lower courts. 

· Key is whether the alleged combination joins together separate decision makers

· “The key is whether the alleged ‘contract, combination…, or conspiracy’ is concerted action that is, whether it joins together separate decisionmakers… such that the agreement ‘deprives the marketplace of independent centers of decision making …” 

· each team has own economic goals -> separate entities 

· each team independent center of decision making

· use rule of reason 

· why? 

· NCAA v Board of Regents 

· Where you have a situation that requires certain amount of cooperation (sports league)-> are not going to judge agreement under per se

· Can do quick look (“twinkle of an eye”) 
Noerr-Pennington Doctrine; Influencing government conduct: 

Deals with petitioning/trying to influence government 

Applies to petitioning of both state and federal government 

Eastern Railroad Presidents Conference v. Noerr Motor Freight (1961) 
Facts: Beginning in the 1920s, railroads and truckers were competing directly in the market for long-distance transportation of heavy freight. The Eastern Railroad Presidents Conference, an association of presidents from 24 railroads, retained the public relations firm of Carl Byoir & Associates, Inc. (defendants). Together, the defendants mounted a public-relations campaign to undermine the trucking business and promote the interests of railroad operators. The Pennsylvania Motor Truck Association (PMTA) was a trade organization representing 41 trucking businesses (plaintiffs). The PMTA mounted its own defensive public-relations campaign. The PMTA also sued, alleging that the defendants’ anti-trucking public-relations campaign violated the Sherman Act. Specifically, the PMTA alleged that the defendants’ campaign caused the governor of Pennsylvania to veto the Fair Truck Bill, a piece of legislation supported by the trucking industry. The PMTA sought damages resulting from the governor’s veto, as well as injunctive relief preventing further public attacks. The defendants filed a counterclaim substantially similar to PMTA’s original complaint, attacking the PMTA’s own publicity campaign.
USDC-> railroads publicity campaign violates Sherman Act, Truckers did not. 

Issue: : Can a publicity and lobbying campaign designed to harm competitors give rise to Sherman Act violations?

Holding: Generally no. 

· This type of conduct (trying to influence legislation) does not constitute a Sherman Act violation 

· Why? Policy argument 

· First Amendment right to petition government 

· Concerned about using Sherman Act to stifle this type of political activity 

· Petitioning activity, i.e. lobbying the legislature and similar political activity is beyond the purpose of the antitrust laws.

· Covered even if motive is to destroy competitor

· Court recognizes that politics can get dirty: 

· General rule: petitioning legislature is protected, but not absolute 

· Sham exception (page 1067) 

· But doesn’t five much guidance on how this exception applies 

· Very difficult to have conduct fall into sham exception for legislature. 
United Mine Workers v. Pennington (note case) 
· Lobbied secretary of labor for higher wages

· Reaffirmed idea that there is petitioning behavior that doesn’t fall under the Sherman Act 

· Deals with public officials 

· Doctrine applies to administrative proceedings and executive branch 
California Motor Transport v. Trucking Unlimited (note case) 
· Court tries to explain when sham exception might apply 

· Sham exception applies when a company is trying to prevent competition from having access to courts/administrative proceedings

· Sham exception applies where: “a pattern of baseless, repetitive claims…effectively barring [plaintiffs] from access to the agencies and courts would not qualify for immunity under the ‘umbrella of political expression.”
· Key: normally petitioning activity is justified (fair game/legitimate) 

· But if start engaging in conduct where you don’t care about outcome, using litigation as a weapon-> sham 

· Just trying to tie up competition 

· Abusing process to harm your competitor 
· Expands Noerr doctrine to courts (judicial proceedings)
Allied Tube & Conduit Corp.  v. Indian Head  (1988) (Noerr Does NOT apply when petitioning private associations)
Facts: The National Fire Protection Association (the Association) is a large private organization comprised of members from various groups and trades. The Association produces and publishes the National Electrical Code, which establishes standards for the design and installation of electric-wiring systems. Many state and local governments have adopted the Code without significant alteration. Additionally, many contractors and electrical inspectors will not accept a product or installation that does not meet the standards outlined in the Code. In 1980, Indian Head, Inc. began using plastic conduits to carry electrical wires throughout buildings. Previously, almost all conduits were made of steel, an approved material for conduit under the Code. Indian Head brought a proposal to secure approval of its plastic conduit. Allied Tube & Conduit Corporation was the largest producer of steel conduits. Fearing that the approval of a plastic conduit would significantly hurt its business, Allied Tube met with other steel-conduit producers and sales agents and planned a strategy to block the proposal. Allied Tube and its associates packed the Association meeting with 230 new members who voted against the approval of plastic conduits, and the proposal was rejected by vote. In response, Indian Head brought a claim against Allied Tubing for unreasonable restriction of trade. (rule of reason) 

USDC-> 

· (in trial) Defendant try to argue plastic=unsafe. Jury thought that there could be some concern—but the way Defendant went about it was anticompetitive. Plaintiff wins 

· (in motion) on Noerr grounds 

· USDC agreed with Defendant—grants a judgement notwithstanding the verdict 

2nd Circuit-> reverses, Noerr doesn’t apply 

Issue: Does Noerr apply? 

Holding: Supreme Court-> Affirmed; Noerr doesn’t apply 

· This is a private association, not the government 

· Even though association highly influential—no actual petitioning to the government itself

· If want protection of Noerr, need to go and actually lobby people in government 

· Use rule of reason, can be procompetitive effects 

· But anticompetitive on its face 

· Won’t take court very long to decide that’s its anticompetitive 

· (Indiana Federation of Dentists, NCAA v. Board of Regents, Polygram) 

Dissent: majority doesn’t define nature and context of the activity 

· Worried not enough guidance to lower courts 

Professional Real Estate Investors v. Columbia Pictures (1993) (TEST FOR SHAM EXCEPTION in single litigation context) 
Facts: Professional Real Estate Investors, Inc., maintained a resort hotel in California that allowed guests to rent movies on videodiscs that could be played privately in the guest’s hotel rooms. Columbia Pictures Industries, Inc., and seven other motion-picture studios brought a lawsuit against PRE, alleging that PRE’s rental practices infringed upon the studios’ copyrights in the movies that were contained on the videodiscs. PRE counterclaimed, alleging that the studios’ actions violated antitrust law as concerted action and that the studios were not entitled to immunity under the Noerr doctrine, because the lawsuit was a pretense to restrain competition.
USDC-> granted Defendants motion for summary judgement (infringement suit had probable cause) 

Appeals Court->affirmed

Supreme Court-> affirmed 

How to analyze whether a lawsuit is a sham used to hurt the competitor: 2 part test 
(1)Objectively baseless. If an objective, reasonable litigant could expect a favorable outcome on the merits then the lawsuit is entitled to Noerr Pennington immunity and is not a sham.

(2)Subjective motivation. If, and only if, the lawsuit is objectively baseless does the court then inquire into the Defendant’s subjective intent to determine if Noerr Pennington immunity should be stripped away.

The mere fact that its objectively baseless and subjective intent suffices to make it sham-> Plaintiff still has to prove antitrust liability 

· THE 2 PART TEST JUST REMOVES NOERR IMMUNITY 

· Still have to go through the rest of the analysis (whether there is an underlying antitrust violation) 
{Intersection of IP and Antitrust—fraud on patent office (“walker process” claim); original patent holder knows/ should have known patent invalid (“handguards”)} 

Parker Immunity; State Action:

Parker v. Brown (1943) 
Facts: In an effort to prevent agricultural waste, the California Agricultural Prorate Act (CAPA) established programs intended to restrict competition among farmers and stabilize prices. In particular, CAPA established a system to classify raisins and distribute each grade of raisin in a manner deemed necessary for market stabilization (output restriction to stabilize prices—would be horizontal price fixing). The system included participation by local farmers in the form of public hearings and voting. However, final authority for administration of the program lay with a state commission created by CAPA. Brown (plaintiff), a raisin farmer, sued to enjoin state officials (defendants) from enforcing CAPA, arguing that CAPA violated the Sherman Act.
Issue: Are actions by state governments immune from antitrust liability under the Sherman Act?
Holding: Yes. 

· Sherman Act meant to govern private entities 

· Because the state government is doing this—grant immunity 

How this immunity applies/how broad it is was developed by subsequent case law…

California Retail Liquor Dealers Association v. Midcal Aluminum (1980) (2 PART TEST FOR PARKER IMMUNITY) 
Facts: Under § 24866(b) of the California Business and Professions Code, all wine producers and wholesalers are obligated to file fair-trade contracts or price schedules with the State of California. Private wine dealers set the price schedules used to determine minimum pricing (in a trading area—a single fair trade contract or price schedule sets the terms for all transactions). If a wine producer or wholesaler sells wine below the prices established by the price schedules, the producer or wholesaler will be subject to fines and license suspension or revocation. Midcal Aluminum, Inc. was a wholesale distributer of wine in California. In 1978, Midcal sold 27 cases of wine at prices below the prices established in the pricing schedule and was charged for violating § 24866(b). Midcal did not contest the allegations and instead filed a writ of mandate in the California court system, seeking an injunction against California’s wine-pricing policy. Midcal alleged that the pricing system was an antitrust violation under the Sherman Act. The court of appeal ruled in favor of Midcal, and the California Retail Liquor Dealers Association challenged the decision, arguing that the wine-pricing policy was immune to antitrust violations under the state-action doctrine.
Holding: Supreme court states that Parker Immunity does not apply. Violation of Sherman act—not sufficient state oversight
· 2 part test for when Parker immunity can apply (called the Mical Test) : 
· (1) The challenged restraint must be “one clearly articulated and affirmatively expressed as state policy” and 
· State has to decide (be clear that state is displacing competition) 

· (2) The policy must be “actively supervised” by the state itself

· Why? Without it, allow market participants under cloak of state power to do whatever they want 

· Consumers would be hurt in this circumstance 

North Carolina Board of Dental Examiners v. FTC (2015) (most recent decision of Parker immunity) 
Facts: The North Carolina State Board of Dental Examiners was a statutory body created to regulated dental practice in North Carolina. Non dentists began practicing teeth whitening. The Board consisted of eight members, six of whom were statutorily required to be practicing dentists. The statute did not mention the practice of teeth-whitening. The Board sent cease-and-desist letters to all non-licensed dentists engaged in the practice of teeth-whitening, claiming that teeth-whitening constituted the practice of dentistry and thus required a license. Effect of these letters: all non-dentists stopped; Dentists who control Board benefit. The Federal Trade Commission brought an administrative action against the Board, claiming a violation of § 5 of the FTC Act. The Board filed a motion to dismiss based on the state-action doctrine. The FTC argued that the Board could not take advantage of state-action immunity because the Board’s composition meant that it was not a state entity, and it was not adequately supervised by the state. The Board argued that its teeth-whitening policy constituted state action and active state supervision was not necessary to invoke the immunity. 

ALJ-> violates antitrust, not Parker

4th Circuit-> affirms

Holding: Supreme Court-> affirms 

· Parker immunity doesn’t apply because no sufficient oversight by state (second part of Midcal Test) 

· “quasi” government body -> active market participants on the Board, oversight needs mechanisms that ensure anticompetitive acts in interest of the State, not benefit of the individual market participants 

· Oversight not sufficient 

This holding had a ripple effect (state bar associations changed the way they operated) 
Sherman Act §1: Vertical Agreements
The Early Years: 

Dr. Miles Medical v. John D. Park & Sons (1911) (note case) 
· Dr Miles= Manufacturer

· An agreement that downstream retailer had to sell at a certain price (minimum resale price)

· No-> once it leaves distributor and goes to retailer, cannot control price

· Rule: to set a minimum vertical price = per se violation (later overruled) 
· Law for 100 years until overturned by Leegin

United States v. Colgate & Co. (1919) (note case) 
· Colgate would only deal with people who would sell at their desired price 

· No written/ formal agreement 

· Idea: manufacturer could announce suggested price and if retailer sold at that price, no agreement for the court to assess

· Saw it as a unilateral decision by retailer 

· Court received a lot of criticism

· If retailer did not sell at suggested price—Colgate cut them off
· Announcement and termination does not equal a violation of the law 

· If there is intervening behavior… will be a violation 
· Known as the Colgate doctrine 
Note: even under rule of reason—still possible for vertical agreement to violate law -> just doesn’t make it an automatic violation 
The Modern Era: 

Vertical Non-Price Agreements: 
Continental TV v. GTE Sylvania (1977)
Facts: GTE Sylvania Inc. manufactured television sets that were distributed to retailers for sale to consumers. Facing declining sales and a smaller market share, Sylvania established a new franchise plan in which Sylvania stopped selling its products to wholesalers and started selling its products to smaller retailers to be resold under franchise licenses instead. Under a franchise agreement, a retailer could resell Sylvania products only from authorized locations. Sylvania hoped that the franchise plan would reduce competition among franchised retailers and incentivize retailers to be more aggressive and competent in order to maintain their franchises. The plan was successful, and Sylvania saw its market share rise significantly. In 1965, Sylvania offered a new franchise to Young Brothers, an established television retailer. Continental T.V., Inc., was another television retailer that maintained a Sylvania franchise very close to the Young Brothers location. After Sylvania ignored Continental’s protests regarding the Young Brothers location, Continental canceled a large order from Sylvania and placed a new order with one of Sylvania’s competitors. The relationship between Continental and Sylvania continued to deteriorate, and Continental eventually withheld payments owed to Sylvania after Sylvania significantly reduced Continental’s credit line. Sylvania subsequently canceled Continental’s credit line, and Continental’s creditor brought an action seeking recovery. Continental made a counterclaim against Sylvania, arguing that the franchise plan violated antitrust law (allegation was vertical allocation of territory and distribution).
USDC-> per se violation (based on Schwinn decision) 

· Per se was based on whether manufacturer kept title of object 

· Rule of reason if kept title; if sold bike and title passes, per se

9th Circuit-> reversed, distinguished Schwinn
· Rule of reason should apply 

Issue: should vertical non-price agreements be judged under rule of reason? 

Holding: Yes. Supreme Court overturns Schwinn; rule of reason proper analysis 

· Why? 

· Antitrust law primary purpose: promote Interbrand competition (competing manufactures and products) 
· This idea is also seen in Kahn and Leegin
· Distinguishes between Interbrand and Intrabrand competition 

· Major concern about race to the bottom -> price cutting and “free riding” 

· Concern: manufacturers should have a right to decide how many retailers sell their product to best compete -> don’t want to worry about Intrabrand competition 

· Efficiency and price most important (Chicago School) 

· But another concern: if only 1 retailer in a given area ->geographic monopoly 

· Per se applies only when always or almost always anticompetitive 

· Not always clear with vertical non-price agreement so rule of reason applies 
RED FLAG RULE #5: 

Vertical non-price agreements (vertical divisions of territory or customer restrictions) are judged under rule of reason

(Continental TV v GTE Sylvania) 

Vertical Maximum Price Fixing Agreements: 

State Oil Co. v. Khan (1997) 
Facts: State Oil Company owned a gas station that was leased to Khan. Under the terms of the lease, Khan would purchase gasoline from State Oil at a suggested price, minus a difference of $0.0325 per gallon. Khan was then free to charge customers any price for gas, but any surplus amount over State Oil’s suggested price was to be returned to State Oil in the form of a rebate. After a year of operation, Khan fell behind on the lease payments, and State Oil started an eviction process against Khan. A court-appointed receiver operated the gas station at State Oil’s request, and the gas station enjoyed a larger profit margin by charging more for premium gas without being held accountable to the price restraints in Khan’s lease. Khan responded by bringing a suit against State Oil, alleging that State Oil’s pricing policy constituted price fixing and a per se antitrust violation under the Sherman Act (says per se--should apply state law at the time--Albrecht case). 

Albrecht: involved a situation where different distributors of a newspaper were given a maximum price to sell it at in their given territory

· Interferes with dealers freedom to compete/set price 

· Concern that manufacturers could disguise a minimum price fixing scheme by dealers 

· If price set too low—want to be able to afford additional services 

Court in Khan addressing these Albrecht points: 

· Dealer freedom? Not deal with distributors, own gas station yourself and decide your own price 

· Price set too low to impact service? Would also harm manufacturers -> would not make economic sense 

· Concern that maximum price could be cover for price fixing among distributors or retailers? Can still be punished under rule of reason

Ultimately-> from a policy perspective not concerned about vertical maximum price fixing agreements

· Consumers benefit (low prices are good for consumers)  

· Antitrust law not about protecting inefficient competitors->it’s about protecting consumers

· Allowing distributors to set maximum vertical price lets them compete at the Interbrand level 

Rule: vertical maximum price fixing = rule of reason 

Stare decisis: Sherman Act 

· Congress expected court to give shape to statute

· Idea that flips traditional conservative and liberal wings of court 

· Liberal-> original intent

· Conservative-> adapt and change 

· Adapt and change with modern economic thinking, like a common law statute 
RED FLAG RULE #6: 

Vertical agreements between a seller and a buyer to resell a product at a maximum price is subject to the rule of reason. 

(State Oil Co. v. Khan)

Vertical Minimum Price Fixing Agreements: 

Leegin Creative Leather Products  v. PSKS (2007) 
Facts: In 1991, Leegin Creative Leather Products, Inc. started selling belts and other women’s accessories under the Brighton brand. The Brighton label was a success, and Leegin eventually provided Brighton products to over 5,000 different retailers across the United States. PSKS, Inc., operated Kay’s Kloset,  a women’s apparel store that began selling Brighton products in 1995. Over the next few years, Brighton products accounted for 40 to 50 percent of the profits earned by Kay’s. In 1997, Leegin began a new policy of not selling Brighton products to retailers that sold below Leegin’s suggested prices (abides by Colgate). In the announcement for the new policy, Leegin told retailers that Leegin wanted the retailers have sufficient profit margins such that the retailers would be able to focus on customer service and store appearance. In 2002, Leegin learned that Kay’s had been selling the entire line of Brighton products at discount prices (20% below suggested price). Kay’s refused to stop selling below the prices suggested by Leegin because Kay’s said that they have to compete with nearby retailer who were also cutting prices. Leegin subsequently refused to sell any more Brighton products to Kay’s. PSKS then brought a suit, alleging that Leegin’s resale-price policy violated antitrust law (allege per se under Dr. Miles). 
Because Leegin talked to Kays Kloset and tried to them to increase price—lose Colgate protection. 

USDC->per se violation under Dr. Miles 

5th Circuit->affirm (not place to overturn precedent) 

Holding: Supreme Court-> overturns Dr. Miles, vertical minimum price fixing agreements are rule of reason 

· A 5-4 decision 

· Majority: there are procompetitive and anticompetitive effects 

· Potential negative effect concerns: 

· No intrabrand price competition on price 
· Ex: toy company selling action figure—everyone has to sell action figure for $10 (minimum price) 
· Walmart, Macys, Toys R Us, etc.—no longer competing on price 

· Worried about disguising horizontal price fixing at retail or manufacturer level 

· Procompetitive 

· Takes away potential for free-riding 

· resale-price limitations can foster competition among retailers of the same brand by encouraging retailers to compete on elements other than price that will benefit the consumer, such as customer service
· eliminate price cutters from free riding 
· Facilitate new entry

· Incentive high end retailers to work with new manufactures; and vice versa 

· Administrative efficiency of per se rule? court says this alone is not enough to maintain per se rule 


· Focus on economic effect and here it’s not clear whether procompetitive or anticompetitive so it should be rule of reason
· Policy points about stare decisis 

· Reiterate that Sherman Act =common law statute 

· As economic thinking evolves, interpretation of Sherman Act should evolve with it 

Dissent: 

· If on a blank slate-> would do modified per se rule 

· Sounds like “quick look” in a way 

· Stare decisis is more compelling—100 year precedent 

· Should chip at a rule slowly instead of eliminating completely 

· The procompetitive and anticompetitive effects are explained well in the dissent 
· Clearer than in the majority 
RED FLAG RULE #7: 

A vertical agreements between a seller and a buyer to resell a product at a minimum price is subject to the rule of reason. 

(Leegin Creative Leather Products v. PSKS) 

Tying Arrangements: 

Tying= as a condition of purchasing on product (product A), the buyer is required to also purchase another product (product B) 


Product A= tying product 


Product B= tied product 

RED FLAG RULE #8: 

Tying is per se unlawful if: 

1) 2 separate products or services are involved 

2) The sale or agreement to sell one product or service is conditioned on the purchase of another 

3) The seller has significant economic power in the market for the tying product to enable it to restrain trade in the market for the tied product; and 

4) A not insubstantial amount of interstate commerce in the tied market is affected 

{really closer to “quasi rule of reason” analysis—but law says its per se. Rule of reason tying requires much more analysis} 

International Salt Co. v. US (1947) 
Facts: International Salt Company sold industrial-grade salt. International Salt also leased patented machinery for industrial salt processing. The machine leases forced the lessees to purchase unpatented salt tablets for the machines from International Salt. Some of the leases contained a provision that required International Salt to either match the lowest market price or else allow the lessee to buy the salt tablets elsewhere. The United States sued International Salt, alleging the lease agreements were unlawful tying arrangements in violation of § 1 of the Sherman Act and § 3 of the Clayton Act.
Defense argument: 

· Needed for efficiency of machines 

· court says no evidence in record that machine is “allergic” to other companies salt 

· there would be nothing wrong if the lease agreement only required that salt of a certain level of purity was used in the leased machines. However, International Salt’s leases go much further and prohibit lessors from purchasing salt of identical purity from firms other than International Salt. This is an unreasonable lease restriction that unlawfully restrains free competition. 
Holding: Court says that this kind of tying arrangement= per se violation 

· requirement=unlawful 

· consumers should have right to buy your machines and salt from somewhere else 

Northern Pacific Railway v. US (1958) (note case) 
· sold land with preferential routing clause 

· have to use their transport service 

· DOJ brings suit 

· Summary judgement granted for DOJ

· Denying access to market because they have the power to do so 

· Leveraging power in one market to force buyer to take product in second market 

· In 1958-> court thinks tying is facially anticompetitive and unlawful 

· (Over time this thinking will shift) 

Jefferson Parrish Hospital District No. 2  v. Hyde (1984) (modern seminal Supreme Court case on tying) 
Facts: In 1971, East Jefferson Hospital entered into an agreement with Roux & Associates that established Roux as the exclusive provider of Jefferson Hospital’s anesthesiological services. Under the agreement, any fees for anesthesiology were billed separately to patients, with payments divided between Jefferson Hospital and Roux. Under the agreement, only anesthesiologists from Roux were able to practice anesthesiology at Jefferson Hospital. In 1977, Edwin G. Hyde applied to become an anesthesiologist at Jefferson Hospital. Hyde was ultimately denied due to Jefferson Hospital’s exclusivity agreement with Roux. In response, Hyde sued Jefferson Hospital, seeking an injunction and a declaratory judgment that the agreement with Roux violated antitrust law. Hyde argued the agreement was an unlawful tying arrangement.
Defacto exclusive arrangement between hospital and anesthesiologist firm (Roux) 

Plaintiff wants this provision struck down so he can work at the hospital 

· Unlawful tying theory alleged:

· Tying services= hospital operating room

· Tied services= anesthesiologist service 

USDC-> hospital doesn’t have enough market power, benefits outweigh anticompetitive effects 

Appeals Court-> reversed; per se (thought 30% was enough market power) 

Holding: Supreme Court-> reversed. A tying arrangement is not a per se violation of antitrust law if the arrangement does not result in a clearly unreasonable restraint on competition, because the company lacks market power in the tying market.
· Majority: says there are 2 separate services 

· But is there tying? 

· Are the 2 products tied? 

· Majority says that they are tied together (look at demand from consumer point of view for each product that is distinguishable/distinct) 

· Is there power in the tying market? 

· Without power in tying product market cannot force someone to but tied product 

· Conclusion on hospital power= not enough market power 

· Only 30% of residents in a larger metropolitan area with 20 other hospitals 

· Often cited by other cases that 30% isn’t enough (without more, 30% not enough) 

· Anticompetitive effect in tied market? 

· Majority says no

· Enough other hospitals/ opportunity for patient to go elsewhere 

Concurrence: (Justice O’Connor) 

· Per se rule doesn’t make sense 

· Per se rules are clear and simple, don’t do market analysis 

· Doesn’t think this is a tying case 

· Anesthesiological services are part of hospital services (not 2 separate products) 
Eastman Kodak Co. v. Image Technical Services (1992) 
Facts: Eastman Kodak Company manufactures and sells photocopiers and micrographic film equipment. Kodak also sells parts and provides services for its equipment. Kodak manufactures some equipment parts internally, while the remaining parts are ordered from independent original-equipment manufacturers (OEMs). There is no cross-compatibility of parts between Kodak’s equipment and its competitors’ equipment. In the 1980s, independent service organizations (ISOs) began selling parts for Kodak equipment and offering repair and maintenance services at much lower prices than Kodak. In response, Kodak began refusing to sell replacement parts to buyers who used ISOs for servicing Kodak equipment and also made it more difficult to obtain used Kodak equipment. Kodak also reached agreements with OEMs that prohibited the sale of equipment parts to anyone other than Kodak. As a result, many ISOs went out of business or lost significant revenue. Image Technical Services, Inc., representing a class of ISOs, brought a suit against Kodak for violating the Sherman Act—allege tying claim (and §2). 
USDC-> granted summary judgement for Kodak 

9th Circuit-> reversed 

Holding: Supreme Court-> Affirmed—should go to trial. A company’s lack of monopoly power in a primary market does not preclude a finding that the company possesses sufficient market power in a subsidiary market to violate antitrust law.
· Kodak’s big picture argument: do not have enough power in equipment market 

· Interbrand competition 

· There are other companies that manufacture copiers 

· Argue that they don’t have a lot of power and therefore cannot control the market 

· ISO argument to get around that point: 

· Parts and repair= separate market 
· Kodak still has power

· Consumer who buys a Kodak machine—“lock in” effect from consumer point of view

· Switching companies is very costly 
· Therefore, Kodak had market power in its own aftermarket
· The “lock in” makes market power in primary market less important 

· Consumers cant switch even if Kodak is jacking up prices 

· Tying product= parts (used to repair) 

· Tied product= services 

· Kodak’s argument as to why this wasn’t even a tying case 

· Try to argue that parts and service are the same, should not be viewed as distinct 

· Majority disagrees

· Evidence shows that consumers would not buy it together (some would buy service without parts, others would purchase parts without service) 
· Evidence suggests it should go to trial 

Dissent (Justice Scalia): policy concern 

· Worried that this will open the floodgates if it is held that manufacturer has market power in its own after-market even if it doesn’t have market power in Interbrand market 

· (This avalanche did not happen in reality, subsequent courts focused on the “lock-in” language as a threshold) 
United States v. Microsoft (2001) 
Facts: Microsoft Corporation was a leading seller of operating-system software and related software products. Microsoft began a sales practice of bundling its web-browsing software, Internet Explorer, with its operating-system software, Windows 95 or 98. At the time, Microsoft enjoyed market power in the market for operating-system software but faced competition in the market for web-browsing software. The United States brought a complaint against Microsoft, contending that Microsoft’s bundling practice was an unlawful tying arrangement.
Tied product=web browser

Tying product =Windows operating system 

Government allegation of tying: Bundling them together for a single price 

· Prior to this, could choose own browser 

· Could not remove internet explorer from operating system 

· Could not make other browser your default browser (stuck with internet explorer as default) 
USDC-> (bench trial); per se tying 

Holding: DC Circuit-> rule of reason for platform software products 

· Problem with tying in this industry 

· Not enough precedent to determine consumer demand 

· Per se only applies when are familiar/comfortable with how the industry works 

· Microsoft tries to argue that these are not separate markets (so not a tying case)
· Designed/programmed them to be integrated 

· More efficiency by having the programming work together 
· Cannot be tying because not separate 

· When trying to figure out if 2 separate products: what evidence to courts look to? 

· Look at it from consumer perspective 

· Question here is: what is the evidence from consumer demand point of view on whether they want to buy a separate browser from operating system 

· Problem with this industry not enough precedent to determine consumer demand (new product—early in the development of internet) 

· Not enough case law to be sure of anticompetitive effect to apply per se 

· Court not comfortable that this should be evaluated by per se
· Need a lot more evidence to determine what consumer demand is and the effect on competition (how all of this works) 
· Therefore, for this industry—tying = rule of reason 
Sherman Act §2: Monopolization 
“Every person who shall monopolize, or attempt to monopolize, or combine or conspire with any other person or persons, to monopolize any part of the trade or commerce among several States, or with foreign nations, shall be deemed guilty of a felony…”

Unilateral conduct
· One exception= conspiracy to monopolize (usually overlaps with §1 claim) 
· Won’t be tested on conspiracy to monopolize 

Monopolization and attempts to monopolize 

No per se under §2; analysis under rule of reason 

{If unsure about market share—can analyze under monopolization and maybe attempted monopolization}

USUALLY WHEN PERSUE MONOPOLIZATION CLAIM; INCLUDE A CLAIM FOR ATTEMPTED MONOPOLIZATION 
RED FLAG RULE #9: 
To prove monopolization under §2, the plaintiff must show that a defendant: (1) possesses monopoly power; and (2) has acquired, enhanced, or maintained that power by the use of exclusionary conduct. 

Monopoly= have power to control price or reduce output 
· To prove monopoly power: 

· (1) direct evidence (very challenging) 

· (2) circumstantial evidence 

· Market share 

· Supreme Court has never said what % is needed for monopoly power

· Some district courts say 70% + is usually enough 
· Lower courts are split with 50-70%

· Usually less than 50% is really hard to show monopoly
· In addition to market share, need to show barriers to entry 

· How to normally show market share: 

· (1) define the market 

· How? 

· Scope of competition (product market) 

· Geographic scope (geographic market) 

· Determine market share in that market 

· Does a high market share=violation of §2?

· Being big, alone, is not enough to violate §2

· Need something more to cross the line from lawful -> unlawful 
· Exclusionary conduct: “willful acquisition of monopoly as distinguished from growth or development as a consequence of superior product, business acumen, or historical accident” 

United States v. Aluminum Co. of America (Alcoa) (1945) 
Facts: Aluminum Company of America (Alcoa) was the sole producer of virgin aluminum ingot in the United States, pursuant to two patents. Purchasers often distinguished between virgin ingot and secondary ingot, which was salvaged from ingot scrap. However, the price difference between the two was only between one and two cents per pound, and for many aluminum uses the two could be used interchangeably. As demand for aluminum ingot increased, Alcoa continually increased its production of virgin ingot to keep up with the demand. Aluminum Limited was a Canadian company formed in 1928 to take over Alcoa properties outside the United States. Limited was part of the "Alliance," which was a Swiss corporation created pursuant to an agreement between Limited and companies from France, Germany, and the United Kingdom. The Alliance members entered into agreements in 1931 and 1936 concerning aluminum manufacture and sale. The 1936 agreement set production quotas for each member that included aluminum imports into the United States. The United States Government brought suit against Alcoa and Limited. 
The government alleged that Alcoa was monopolizing interstate and foreign commerce with respect to the manufacture and sale of aluminum ingot and that Alcoa and Limited had illegally conspired to form a monopoly and restrain domestic and foreign commerce regarding the manufacture and sale of aluminum ingot. After a trial, the district court dismissed the complaint. Among other conclusions, the district court calculated Alcoa’s market share at 33 percent by including secondary ingot in its market definition. If the market were restricted to virgin ingot, Alcoa possessed roughly 90 percent of the market share. The district court also excluded the ingot that Alcoa produced and fabricated itself. The United States appealed. Holding on appeal: violation of §2 (reversed trial court). 
Timeline: 

-until 1909: lawful monopoly (held patents) 

1912: consent decree

1945: still have monopoly 

Market definition: at issue 

· Defendant wants market huge (less market power) 
· Plaintiff wants market narrow (greater market power)
Judge Hand makes observation (and gives framework that we did not have before) 

· Over 90%= monopoly power 

· 60-64%= doubtful (marginal) 

· 33%= not enough 

Alcoa has monopoly power based on how market is defined. 

- the relevant market should be limited to virgin ingot, and should include virgin ingot that Alcoa fabricates itself. Secondary ingot should be excluded from the calculation of market power because secondary ingot is made from the scraps of the virgin ingot that Alcoa initially produced under monopoly conditions. Thus, when controlling how much virgin ingot it produced, Alcoa also effectively had significant control over how much secondary ingot would be on the market in the future. While the ingot that Alcoa fabricates itself never reaches the ingot market, such fabrication inherently reduces the demand for ingot, because absent such fabrication, another manufacturer would have purchased the ingot to fabricate the products to fulfill the end-user demand. This ingot should thus be included in the market. When Alcoa’s market power is calculated in this way, its market share is 91 percent.

Exclusionary conduct? 

· Yes 

· Barriers to entry (unclear if it would have come out the same way today) 

· Modern example: amazon (expand and provide low price products, competition cannot) 

· Expanded capacity 

· In terms of Alcoa’s conduct, as demand for aluminum ingot increased, Alcoa continually increased its production to keep up with the demand. Although Alcoa may not have actively excluded competitors from the virgin ingot market, it willfully maintained its monopoly power by increasing production. Accordingly, as Alcoa possesses monopoly power and willfully maintained that power with exclusionary conduct, it has violated section 2 of the Sherman Act. It is irrelevant that Alcoa did not make more than a fair profit on its ingot. It is the monopoly and conduct that are material to the Sherman Act.
Reason we read this case: sets up framework for monopolization analysis

Alcoa important for setting out Red Flag Rule #9 and the analysis that big alone isn’t bad 
United States v. EI du Pont de Nemours & Co. (1956) (seminal decision on relevant market—look at it from the perspective of consumers) 
Facts: E. I. du Pont de Nemours and Company was a manufacturer of cellophane, a clear-film material used as a wrapping for foodstuffs and other items. du Pont owned a patent for a moisture-proof version of cellophane that was especially desirable as a wrapping material. du Pont’s cellophane was very popular, and the United States brought an action against du Pont, claiming that du Pont had monopolized the market for cellophane. du Pont argued that the government’s alleged product market was too narrow and that cellophane was a product within the larger market for flexible packaging materials (e.g., aluminum foil, waxed paper, and Saran wrap). During the relevant period, du Pont maintained a share of 75 percent of cellophane production in the United States but less than 20 percent of flexible-packaging production.
Does du Pont have market power? 

· Gov’t says market= cellophane (75%)

· Du Pont says market=flexible packaging (20%) 

Case turns entirely on scope of relevant market

USDC-> agrees with du Pont 

· Should be larger relevant market

· Other flexible packaging materials= substitute for cellophane 

Holding: Supreme court agrees with the finding of the District Court 

· Cross-elasticity of demand: if price of a product is raised, will a consumer continue to buy it or switch to a substitute? LOOK AT IT FROM POV OF CONSUMERS
· If du Pont raised price of cellophane, could consumer buy something else instead? Yes 

· the district court found that an increase in the price of cellophane would lead to an increase in the demand for alternative wrapping materials, which suggests that customers view cellophane and other wrapping materials as reasonably interchangeable products for the purpose of wrapping goods.
This case is important because it lays out the framework for looking at consumer demand and elasticity. 
Unilateral Refusal to Deal: 
Normally, competitor has no duty to cooperate…

Aspen Skiing v. Aspen Highlands Skiing (1985) 
Facts: In 1962, the owners of four major mountains in Aspen, Colorado began offering an interchangeable ski-lift ticket that could be used at each of the four mountains. In 1964, Aspen Skiing Company (Ski Co.) purchased one of the mountains to bring Ski Co.’s ownership to three of the four mountains in the Aspen area. Ski Co. and Highlands Skiing Corporation (Highland), the only remaining competitor in the market for Aspen skiers, continued to offer the interchangeable ticket. The proceeds were distributed based on the usage of each mountain by skiers with interchangeable tickets. In 1978, Ski Co. offered Highland a fixed percentage of the revenue from interchangeable tickets that was substantially below the revenue typically received by Highland based on actual usage. After Highland rejected the offer, Ski Co. discontinued the interchangeable-ticket program and established a new program that allowed skiers to purchase an interchangeable pass for Ski Co.’s mountains but not for Highland’s mountain. Additionally, Ski Co. refused to sell lift tickets for Ski Co.’s mountains to Highland at any price or accept the vouchers that Highland offered to skiers. As a result, Highland’s market share for skiing in the Aspen area declined dramatically. Highland brought a complaint against Ski Co., alleging that Ski Co. had violated § 2 of the Sherman Act by monopolizing skiing in the Aspen area.
USDC-> jury finds for Highland 

· product market: downhill skiing (destination ski resorts) 

· geographic submarket: 4 mountain area in Aspen 

· given this market definition, does Aspen Skiing have market power? 

· Jury said yes 

Issue: does what happened constitute exclusionary conduct? 

Normal rule (Colgate)-> as a business, free to deal/do business with whoever you want 

Holding: Supreme Court distinguishes from Colgate 

· What happened here, we think jury could find it to be exclusionary conduct 

· Ongoing course of conduct is profitable…so why does Aspen Skiing cut it off? 

· Jury says anticompetitive (doing it to harm Highland) 
· Supreme Court affirms 

· A business that has established a monopoly position in a particular market is not prohibited from utilizing its position to create a superior product or experience or to harness economies of scale that make it more difficult for competitors to compete. Additionally, while a business is under no legal obligation to cooperate, a refusal to cooperate may be used as evidence to establish a business’s use of monopoly power to further an anticompetitive purpose. 
· Here, Ski Co. does not dispute that Ski Co. is a monopolist for skiing in the Aspen area. Instead, Ski Co. argues that its refusal to cooperate with Highland should not be viewed as anticompetitive under § 2. 
· Ski Co. did not provide evidence of a legitimate business purpose for its refusal to cooperate, and the decision appears to have been motivated primarily by a desire to harm a smaller competitor and reduce competition long term
{after this case was decided, it is the go to case for plaintiffs to cite in support of their claim} 
Verizon Communications v. Law Office of Curtis T. Trinko (2004)
Facts: The Telecommunications Act of 1996 imposed obligations on local exchange carriers (LECs) in the market for telephone services. The 1996 Act aimed to help new competitors enter the highly concentrated market. Verizon Communications Inc. was the incumbent LEC for the State of New York. In order to comply with the 1996 Act, Verizon allowed several competitors to utilize Verizon’s local telephone networks. The Law Offices of Curtis V. Trinko, LLP purchased telephone service from one of Verizon’s competitors. Trinko brought a complaint against Verizon, alleging that Verizon was violating § 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2, by discriminating against the competitors that were using Verizon’s network.
USDC-> dismissed (failure to state a claim) 

Appeals Court-> reinstated antitrust claim (refusal to deal) 

Holding: Supreme Court-> reversed (dismissed) 

· Plaintiff has not stated a claim 

· This case differs from Aspen Skiing because in Aspen competitors had ongoing, voluntary course of dealing cut off by monopolist for anticompetitive reasons 

· Here, Congress said they had to share (not voluntary) 

· Regulatory duty to deal, no antitrust duty to deal 

· Court says Aspen= outer boundary of §2
· In aspen, case turned on affirmative, voluntary course of conduct 

· Do not have a similar fact pattern—not voluntary course of conduct  
· Doctrine of Implied Immunity: idea that if Congress has stepped in to regulate a field, question of whether antitrust could also regulate 

· Why raise it at all unless thought Congress made a mistake allowing antitrust scrutiny in the statute 

· Essential facility doctrine: 

· Essential facilities should be available for everyone to use 

· Majority: if doctrine exists, it doesn’t apply

· Supreme Court has never recognized it 

· Lower courts have 
Monopolization (continued) 
Microsoft (revisited) 
· Market: inter compatible operating system 

· Market share: 80%

· Monopoly power? Yes 

· Did Microsoft engage in exclusionary conduct? 

· Analyze various exclusionary agreements and conduct that supported USDC decision 

· Pg 1003 (brackets)—court trying to figure out where the line is 

· No bright line (per se) rules for §2 violations 

· “whether any particular act of a monopolist is exclusionary, rather than merely a form of vigorous competition, can be difficult to discern: the means of illicit exclusion, like the means of legitimate competition, are myriad.” 

· Issue with licenses and OEMs 

· Preventing OEMs from adjusting desktop and potentially threatening Microsoft’s dominance 
· Contract provisions were trying to protect windows 

· Trying to keep out other browsers that would create an alternative 

· By not allowing another browser on homepage—a way to keep competitors from being a threat 

· Found to be anticompetitive 

· Microsoft’s attempted justification: 

· Copyright—IP rights don’t give privilege to violate antitrust (rejected) 

· Did not completely block competition—but blocked cost-efficient ways of distributing product (rejected) 
· Therefore, agreement anticompetitive, violated §2

· District Court wanted to break Microsoft up

· Court of Appeal thought it was too extreme, sent it back down for further analysis 

· DOJ settled on remand. 
Eastman Kodak (revisited) 
· Kodak alleges to have monopolized: 

· Parts market- 100% 

· Service market- 80-90%

· ISO competing in service market 

· §2 claim: that Kodak was foreclosing ISO from competing in service market

· Kodak arguments: 

· Don’t control primary market so can’t control secondary market—court rejected this 

· Preventing Free riding and stressing quality 
· Court says that this is fact issues—cant grant motion for summary judgement. Have to let trier of fact make determination 
· ISO-> consumers harmed because:

· Higher prices 

· Evidence that ISO’s provided better service 

· Less choice 

· Monopoly power? Yes (80-90%)

· Did they use that power in an exclusionary way? (did plaintiff offer enough facts to go to trial?) Yes (see above) 

On an exam: if see tying claim; see if there is a monopoly claim too (like Microsoft and Eastman Kodak) 
Bundled Discounts: 

Circuit Split 
LePage’s Inc v. 3M (2003) 
Facts: deals with tape market. 3M introduced a bundling rebate system where those willing to buy from all 6 3M product lines (which are all diverse) will receive a large monetary rebate back from the manufacturer (3M). 3M was doing this bundled rebate with major retailers and the rebate increased profits for the retailers. LePage could not afford to give that kind of rebate because it does not have diverse product lines. Lepage could not break into the large retailer market. LePage’s, Inc. alleged that 3M violated § 2 of the Sherman Act, by (1) offering rebates to customers conditioned on purchases spanning six of 3M’s diverse product lines, and (2) entering into contracts that expressly or effectively required dealing virtually exclusively with 3M. 3M did not contest the allegations, but it contended that its conduct was legal because it never priced its transparent tape below its cost. 3M appealed from the United States District Court’s order declining to overturn the jury's verdict for LePage's in its suit against 3M under § 2, but granted 3M's motion for judgment as a matter of law as to the attempted maintenance of monopoly power claim. Both LePage's and 3M filed appeals.
§2: 

· Market: transparent tape (90%)

· Market definition was not contested in this case (very rare)

· 3M conceded market power 

· Did 3M engage in exclusionary conduct? 

· 3M says: if selling above cost, not exclusionary conduct 

· Argue that if it has been selling below cost to kick Lepage’s out of market, then it would be exclusionary 

· Court rejects this argument. 

· Plaintiff in this case did not bring predatory pricing claim, so Plaintiff does not need to meet elements under Brooke Group 

· Court says different if monopolist is offering a bundled discount v. a smaller company with no market power 
· Why? It creates barriers to entry when done by a monopolist 

· Have monopoly power and keeping out competition is anticompetitive 

· There is exclusive dealing in addition to bundling 

· Can’t buy from anyone else as part of the contract 

· Used a weapon

· Taken together, court says anticompetitive and can be violation of §2

· 3rd Circuit holding is favorable to plaintiffs 

Holding: The Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit concluded that a jury could reasonably find that 3M’s exclusionary conduct, its exclusive dealing and bundled rebates, could sustain a verdict under § 2 of the Sherman Act
{exclusive dealing, under §1, under rule of reason can have procompetitive effects—especially if shorter in duration (ex: 1 year=procompetitive and lawful). The longer it is, the more wary courts are of it.}
Cascade Health Solutions v. PeaceHealth (2007) 
Facts: case deals with primary, secondary, and tertiary hospital services in Lane County, Oregon. McKenzie and PeaceHealth are the only two providers of hospital services in Lane County. PeaceHealth operates 3 hospitals in Lane Country and McKenzie operates 1. PeaceHealth negotiated a deal with insurance companies to make bundled discounts. PeaceHealth’s offer to insurance: 35-40% discounts on tertiary services at PeaceHealth; in return, insurance companies make them sole preferred provider for primary and secondary care. McKenzie sues alleging §2 violation—exclusionary conduct (bundled rebate very similar to LePage’s). 
USDC-> Plaintiff wins, anticompetitive

Holding: 9th Circuit-> not anticompetitive. (and can’t be “unless the discounts result in prices that are below an appropriate measure of Defendant’s cost”) 

· LePage’s does not provide any guidance to businesses 

· Trying to protect efficient plaintiffs, not plaintiffs who are inefficient 

· Policy concern: overenforcement against big companies just because they are monopolists helps inefficient smaller companies win 

· Test adopted by the 9th Circuit would allow a firm to offer bundled discounts as long as an equally efficient competitor—measured by variable costs—would be able to match, and thus would not be excluded by, the discount. 

· 9th Circuit adopts different standard: 

· Discount attribution standard (see bottom of pg 615-top of 616) 

· Focus on Defendant’s pricing, not the plaintiff 

· (In theory, Defendant doesn’t know plaintiff’s pricing) 

· Provides clear guidance for sellers 

· “plaintiff must establish that, after allocating the discount given by the defendant on the entire bundle of products to the competitive product or products, the defendant sold the competitive product or products below its average variable cost of producing them.” 
· So for example, if have 6 product lines in bundle with a $100 rebate—allocate that $100 across all 6 product lines and see whether D is selling a specific product below average variable cost

· Average variable cost 

· Court says has to be below average variable cost 

· Cost of producing 1 more widget (in a factory setting)

· Challenging standard to meet as a plaintiff 

· If LePage’s brought in 9th Circuit, plaintiff would not have prevailed (3M not pricing below cost) 

Takeaway: Plaintiff in 9th Circuit has a much more difficult standard to meet than in 3rd Circuit. 
Attempted Monopolization: 

RED FLAG RULE #10: 
To prove attempted monopolization under §2, plaintiff must show that defendant: (1) engaged in exclusionary conduct, (2) with the specific intent to monopolize, and (3) with a “dangerous probability” of achieving monopoly power. 
Differences between attempted monopolization and monopolization: 

· Specific intent requirement 

· Market share that is required is different; in attempt 50% is usually enough
USUALLY WHEN PERSUE MONOPOLIZATION CLAIM; INCLUDE A CLAIM FOR ATTEMPTED MONOPOLIZATION 
Why does the court add a specific intent requirement? 

· policy: 

· 50%= rule of thumb for enough monopoly power to be “dangerously close” 

· In 9th circuit 44% found to be enough. 

· 30-50% gray area. Less than 30% usually not enough
· This element added to try and distinguish between legitimate competition and a company that is operating with the specific intent to monopolize 

· Think of criminal law distinction between an attempted crime and the crime itself 

· Crime hasn’t happened yet—so need to show specific intent to prove attempt 

· Same thing with monopoly 

Lorain Journal  Co. v. United States (1951) 
Facts: Lorain Journal Co. published newspapers in Lorain, Ohio. In 1932, the Journal bought the Times-Herald, which was the only other newspaper operating in Lorain. Thus, the Journal was the only daily newspaper in Lorain. By 1933, the Journal’s circulation reached 99 percent of Lorain households. In 1948, a radio station called WEOL began operating in Lorain and the surrounding area. The Journal adopted a policy of denying advertising space to any business that advertised with WEOL. The result of this policy was that businesses stopped radio advertisements (at this time needed to advertise in newspapers over radio). The United States sued the Journal, alleging that the Journal’s policy of denying advertising space to local businesses was an attempt to destroy WEOL and monopolize the market for local advertising.
USDC-> attempt to monopolize, after decision enjoined them from continuing attempt

Product market=advertising

Geographic market= Lorain, Ohio

Lorain tries to argue that they are a private business and can deal with who they want and on the terms they want (Colgate) 

· Supreme Court says this is a qualified right, not absolute 

· Have market power and engaged in exclusionary conduct with the purpose of harming your competition-- that right does not protect you… 

· Aspen Skiing decision relies on this language 

· In the case of a firm with market power, the right to unilaterally refuse to do business with others is limited by the Sherman Act. Here, the Journal knows that if it exercises market power by denying advertising space to local businesses, those local businesses will have no choice but to stop advertising with WEOL. Advertising dollars represent WEOL’s major source of revenue. The Journal’s policy is not merely a form of aggressive competition. Rather, the Journal’s policy is intended to eliminate competition altogether. 
Holding: affirmed. A firm with existing monopoly power engages in attempted monopolization if the firm uses its market power to eliminate a new competitor (exclusionary conduct)
Spectrum Sports, Inc. v. McQuillan (1993)
Facts: Shirley and Larry McQuillan manufactured equestrian products. One of the McQuillans’ products was a horseshoe pad. The horseshoe pad required an elastic polymer called sorbothane. BTR, Inc. (BTR) owned the patent rights to sorbothane. BTR sold sorbothane through Hamilton-Kent Manufacturing Company and Sorbothane, Inc.. In 1980, the McQuillans entered an agreement with the sorbothane producers to be the exclusive purchasers of sorbothane for equestrian products. In 1981, the McQuillans also became one of five regional distributors of all sorbothane products. The McQuillans’ distributorship included equestrian, medical, and athletic products. However, in 1982, the sorbothane producers threatened to take away the McQuillans’ equestrian distributorship unless the McQuillans agreed to give up the athletic distributorship. The McQuillans refused. In 1983, the sorbothane producers stopped selling sorbothane to the McQuillans. The sorbothane producers began to sell their own sorbothane horseshoe. The sorbothane producers also gave the McQuillans’ athletic distributorship to Spectrum Sports, Inc.. Unable to obtain sorbothane, the McQuillans went out of business. The McQuillans sued the sorbothane producers and Spectrum, alleging attempted monopolization in violation of § 2 of the Sherman Act 
(High level: Defendant being sued because Plaintiff no longer has right to sell certain products in US) 

USDC-> Plaintiff wins 

9th Circuit-> affirmed

· Defendant argues that 9th Circuit let Plaintiff bypass showing of market power because said there was evidence of unfair/predatory conduct 

Holding: Supreme Court-> reverses

· Plaintiff cannot bypass showing of market power 

· Plaintiff has to prove relevant market and dangerous probability of success

· Only way to meet that second burden is to show that Defendant has enough power to impact competition in the market 

· To establish a dangerous probability of actual monopolization, an antitrust plaintiff must properly define the product market, the geographic market, and the defendant’s power in the market. Without a market definition, it would be impossible to analyze whether the defendant has come dangerously close to realizing an actual monopoly in that market. Here, the district court should have made the McQuillans show a properly defined market and demonstrate that the sorbothane producers had existing or potential power in that market.
· Policy: antitrust is there to protect competition, not competitors. If there isn’t market power, shouldn’t use antitrust…use other causes of action. 
· Debate that is still happening today
· Policy tension between whether antitrust should protect small competitors (like in Klors) 
· To prove intent to monopolize: must be something more than an intent to compete vigorously. 
· Proof of the defendants ‘unfair’ or ‘predatory’ tactics may be sufficient to prove intent to monopolize
Predatory Pricing (Below Cost Pricing): 

Brooke Groupe v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco (1993) (seminal decision on predatory pricing)
Facts: In 1980, Liggett (plaintiff), a company now known as Brooke Group Ltd., began offering generic cigarettes priced significantly lower than the branded cigarettes that were prevalent at the time. The product was a success, and soon other cigarette companies began developing their own generic cigarette lines. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Corporation developed a generic line in direct competition with Liggett’s line. The two products were so similar that retailers generally only carried one or the other. A price war broke out between the two products. From retail point of view: did not matter which one was sold (same price). The real fight was at the wholesale level. Liggett alleges that Brown & Williamson was selling below cost to wholesalers for the purposes of getting Liggett to increase price of black and whites so branded prices could increase. (that way black and whites would not impact the prices of the cigarettes that Brown & Williamson cared about). 
USDC-> 

· Convince jury that this is an anticompetitive scheme—Liggett wins

· Judge->judgement not withstanding verdict, takes it away from the jury 

Appeals Court-> affirmed

Issue: lack of injury to competition 

· Idea that low prices for consumers is driving decision 

· Antitrust protects competition, not competitors 

· Plaintiff did not show that Defendant would recoup losses from predatory pricing 

2 Part test to prove predatory pricing, the plaintiff must show: 

(1) Below Cost: Plaintiff seeking to establish competitive injury from a rival’s low prices must prove that the prices complained of area below an appropriate measure of its rival’s costs. 

(2) Recoupment: To hold a competitor liable for charging low prices the defendant must have had reasonable prospect—or dangerous probability in the words of §2 of the Sherman Act—of recouping its investment in below-cost prices. 

a. To show recoupment on these facts, Liggett would have to prove tacit collusion 

i. Not enough market power for D to do this alone—only way to recoup is if Brown & Williamson got together and raised prices with other competitors 

1. No evidence that this would happen

Holding: Affirmed. A plaintiff alleging an antitrust violation based on predatory pricing must show that the defendant had a reasonable probability of recouping the losses suffered during the predatory-pricing period.
Almost impossible to prove predatory pricing in federal court because so difficult to prove recoupment 

· 1 case in 27 years has gotten past summary judgement 

{CA courts have rejected the 2 part test: All plaintiff has to show is pricing below cost; do not need to prove recoupment requirement }
Mergers: (not on exam) 

Clayton Act §7: 
Covers mergers and acquisitions where “… the effect of such acquisition may be substantially to lessen competition, or to tend to create monopoly…”

The standard is forward looking and addresses the likely future effect of a merger on competition in a relevant market (“incipiency”) 

DOJ-FTC Horizontal Merger Guidelines: 

“The unifying theme of these Guidelines is that mergers should not be permitted to create, enhance, or entrench market power or to facilitate its exercise.” 

Unilateral effects: “a merger can enhance market power simply by eliminating competition between the merging parties.” 

Coordinated effects: “a merger also can enhance market power by increasing the risk of coordinated, accommodating, or interdependent behavior among rivals.” 

Cases: 

U.S. v. Philadelphia National Bank 

FTC v. Wholefoods Market, Inc 

St. Alphonsus Medical Center v. St Luke’s Health System 

FTC v. Staples, Inc. and Office Depot, Inc

{SNIPP: “small but significant non-transitory increase in price: tool used to help define relevant market; if have hypothetical monopolist-> look at whether an increase in prices will drive consumers to buy a substitute product. If yes, that product is part of the relevant market.} 

{HHI: index that measures how concentrated markets are. If merger brings together 2 companies with market share, higher HHI is a red flag indicator that this merger could be problematic} 

Failing company defense: 
-very weak defense

-argument that company being acquired would otherwise die 

-Congress passed a statute that allows newspaper to raise this defense if can show that acquired newspaper was in significant economic distress 
Consent Decree (example): US, et al. v. Comcast Corp., GE Co., NBC Universal Inc. 

Private Enforcement Issues: 

*Apply only to Private plaintiffs bringing suits*
Following statutes work together with the Sherman Act: 

Civil Damage Claim- §4 of Clayton Act 
-Under §4, a civil plaintiff must suffer injury to its “business or property.” §4 refers to loss of “commercial interests or enterprise” and includes a person’s profession (e.g., NFL or NBA players can sue under the federal antitrust laws). 

-§4 has been read broadly to include loss of money by consumers—so direct purchasers do have standing to sue for injuries arising out of price-fixing or other anti-competitive conduct. 

Claim for Injunctive Relief-- §16 of Clayton Act 

Under §16, a civil plaintiff can seek injunctive relief if there is a “threatened loss or damage.” §16 is not limited to loss of “commercial interests or enterprise” but has been held broadly applicable. 
Antitrust Injury: 

The Supreme Court has held that injury arising from the defendant’s conduct is not sufficient, standing alone, to allow for recovery under the antitrust laws. The injury must arise from the type of conduct the antitrust laws were meant to address, i.e. anticompetitive behavior. Antitrust injury requirement applies to claims for damages and injunctive relief. 

Brunswick Corp. v. Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat, Inc. (1977) (seminal case) 
Facts: Brunswick Corp was a manufacturer of bowling equipment. Brunswick sold equipment to bowling alleys on secured credit. The bowling industry went into a sharp decline in the early 1960’s, and Brunswick began acquiring and operating bowling centers that had defaulted on the security agreements. During a short period, Brunswick acquired 222 bowling centers and operated all but 54 of them. Brunswick therefore became the largest operator of bowling centers by a significant margin. Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat (PB) operated bowling centers in one of the markets where Brunswick acquired some bowling centers. PB sued Brunswick under the Clayton Act, alleging that Brunswick’s acquisition of these bowling centers might substantially lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly. PB sought treble damages under the Clayton Act based on a loss of profits that PB would have realized if the bowling centers acquired by Brunswick would have closed.
USDC-> jury verdict in favor of PB ($7 million) 

3rd Circuit-> reversed 

Holding: Supreme Court-> Defendant wins. Judgment of trial court reversed. 

· Plaintiff argues that could have earned more if Defendant had not acquired 

· Court says while it’s true that acquisition is a but for cause of Plaintiff losing money, not a purpose of antitrust law. Plaintiff basically complaining about more competition in market
· As a matter of policy-> court imposes antitrust injury doctrine: 

· harm has to flow from the type of injury that antitrust law were meant to prevent. “But for” is NOT enough. 
·  the type of injury “the antitrust laws were intended to prevent and that flows from that which makes a defendants’ acts unlawful”
Antitrust Standing: 

-The Supreme Court has limited the persons or entities capable of bringing civil antirust damage actions 

-From a policy perspective, the Supreme Court has explained that antitrust violations may cause “ripple effects” in the economy, but there has to be a point where a wrongdoer will not be held responsible 

3 cases: 
Blue Shield of Virginia v. McCready (1982)
Facts: Carol McCready received health insurance under a prepaid group health plan from Blue Shield of Virginia. Under the insurance plan, Blue Shield provided reimbursement for psychotherapy treatments from psychiatrists, but not for psychologists, unless the service was billed through a physician. McCready was treated by a psychologist, and her claims for reimbursement were denied by Blue Shield. In 1978, McCready brought a class-action suit against Blue Shield for failure to reimburse insurance subscribers who had visited psychologists. McCready’s suit alleged that Blue Shield conspired to prevent psychologists from receiving compensation in violation of the Sherman Act and sought treble damages under § 4 of the Clayton Act for related injuries.

Defendant argues that Plaintiff should not have standing to sue, even if there was a conspiracy 

· Direct competitors who are harmed should have standing to sue 

Supreme Court disagrees: 

· Broad, pro-standing, pro-enforcement language 

· 2 limitations: 

· (1) risk of duplicative recovery 

· (2) if injuries too remote (policy) 

Holding: plaintiff insured had standing to sue due to insurer’s refusal to reimburse for psychotherapy services arising out of conspiracy. Injury not too remote—Plaintiff was being impacted because Plaintiff had to pay higher prices for services. 

Associated General Contractors of California, Inc. v. California State Council of Carpenters  (1983) 
Facts: Union sued defendants, a multi-employer association of construction contractors and its

members, alleging that they coerced association members to hire nonunion contractors and

subcontractors instead of union firms).

Holding: Union lacked standing to sue. Majority held that union was not a “person” within the

meaning of Section 4 of the Clayton Act; the union was not a consumer or a competitor in a market directly impacted by the conduct.

Key: Court identifies 5 factors that should be considered for assessing remoteness (fact intensive) :
1. The causal connection between the antitrust violation and the harm to the plaintiff.

2. The nature of the injury, including whether the plaintiff is a consumer or competitor

in the relevant market.

3. The directness of the injury, and whether the damages are too speculative.

4. The potential for duplicative recovery, and whether the apportionment of damages

would be too complex.

5. The existence of more direct victims.

Illinois Brick Co. v. Illinois (1977) 
Facts: Plaintiffs were local governments. Defendant concrete block manufacturers allegedly fixed prices of blocks sold to masonry contractors who sold the blocks to general contractors who sold the blocks to plaintiffs (local government entities).

Issue: Whether government entities have standing to bring suit. 
Holding: No--Plaintiff was an indirect purchaser and lacked standing to sue under

the antitrust laws.

Policy: Court is concerned about the risk of multiple recoveries against a single defendant. 
· If everyone in the chain could sue—Defendant would be liable for exponentially more than what they actually did. 

· Majority thinks the direct purchaser should sue and willing to risk the possibility that might not happen sometimes.

Direct Purchaser Rule: Only have standing to bring suit if you are a direct purchaser

· Comes up more often in horizontal price fixing 

· There are some narrow exceptions (beyond what we will cover) 

Illinois Brick only applies to §4 (damages), NOT §16 (injunctive relief) 
** Note many states, including California, have enacted Illinois Brick “repealer”

Statutes (meaning if bring suit under state law, no direct purchaser rule)**
Random notes: 

· Going along with/ participating in an antitrust violation unwillingly-> still have antitrust liability 

· RFR #2: don’t have to prove that price-fixing was successful—act alone is unlawful 

· To get out of per se for horizontal price fixing, need special circumstances: sports league, joint ventures, etc. 

· On Exam: if close call, expects arguments for both sides

· Usually if arguing monopolization—argue attempted monopolization too 

· If we get a private enforcement question—looking for Illinois Brick and antitrust injury 

· If question doesn’t ask for private enforcement—don’t analyze it 

· Won’t lose points for being wrong unless so off it impacts other analysis

· WILL NOT BE TESTED ON: 

· Mergers 

· Conspiracy to monopolize 

· BUT THESE ARE FAIR GAME: 

· §1, §2 (monopolization and attempted monopolization) 
· Exclusionary conduct 

· Private enforcement 

· §1, §2 immunities (Noerr, Parker) 
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